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Advancing Financial Markets. Together. reinforces our deep expertise and 
a proven track record in driving positive change across global markets. It 
speaks to the opportunities we create and the challenges we solve for our 
clients so they can grow and prosper. And it underpins our partnership and 
collaboration with the industry to get things done.
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WE ARE DIVERSE
Our refreshed brand reflects our commitment to attracting, retaining and promoting a superb 
and diverse workforce that reflects society at large. More important, it supports our efforts 
to embed diversity & inclusion into our culture to harness the full array of talents of our global 
team, which will enable us to deliver greater value to our clients.

Keisha Bell
Managing Director, Head of Diverse Talent Management and Advancement

WE ARE PARTNERING
Establishing strategic partnerships is a great example of how DTCC is transforming the post-
trade ecosystem. It allows us to create more holistic solutions by combining our trusted and 
secure platform with innovative products offered by other companies. Looking ahead, we’ll 
continue to explore new partnerships to expand our support for equities and fixed income, 
derivatives trade reporting, data services and client interfaces.

Marisol Collazo
Managing Director, Business Development & Head of Strategic Partnerships

WE ARE RE-IMAGINING
DTCC’s mission in Asia-Pacific, similar to what we do across the globe, is to ensure the safety and 
soundness of global financial markets. Our brand speaks to how we work with clients, securities 
depositories, other clearinghouses and governing bodies to establish best practices, implement 
new technology and provide cross-border post-trade services. It also reinforces our commitment 
to re-imagining how market infrastructures can shape the future of the global markets.

Nellie Dagdag
Managing Director, Marketing & Communications, APAC Regional Manager

WE ARE ENGAGING
Our brand highlights the fact that we are a true team with our clients. It’s one of the things 
that makes our work so enjoyable. That’s critical because, as an infrastructure provider, 
everything we do is centered on supporting the industry. The only way we can accomplish that 
is by engaging and collaborating with our clients. “Advancing” is such an important word since 
everything we do is aimed at advancing the markets one step at a time.

Michael McClain
Managing Director and General Manager of Equity Clearing
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WE ARE SOLVING
As a leader in Human Resources, I see our brand through the lens of our employees. It means 
that we will do our best to proactively identify and solve clients’ issues and improve client 
service—regardless of where our colleagues are based. We want to hire the best people, 
challenge them intellectually, develop their potential and nurture their leadership so our clients 
benefit and DTCC succeeds. That means reinforcing a culture of discovery, innovation and 
thought leadership – and always keeping clients at the center of everything we do.

Chandrakumaran Pragalathan
Executive Director, Human Resources Business Partner & Chennai Site Lead

WE ARE COLLABORATING
DTCC’s refreshed brand reminds me of a Henry Ford quote, “Coming together is the beginning. 
Keeping together is progress. Working together is success.” By working together within DTCC, 
and in partnership with our clients and the industry, we will continue to deliver best-in-class 
products and a superior client experience. An excellent example of this is our work on Securities 
Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR). Thanks to this, we’ll enable firms to meet new 
reporting obligations and make conducting business easier.

Val Wotton
Managing Director, Product Development and Strategy, Derivatives and Collateral 
Management

WE ARE ADVANCING FINANCIAL MARKETS TOGETHER.
Through our expertise and innovation, we are helping to create the 
marketplace of the future.

We have a vision for a stronger, safer global marketplace.

In partnership with our clients and the industry, we spearhead solutions that 
help markets grow and protect the security of the financial system.
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A MESSAGE FROM 
MIKE BODSON
DTCC President & CEO
As we publish the 2019 Annual Report, the coronavirus 
pandemic has created an unprecedented global health 
crisis that has roiled the financial markets and economy. 
Throughout this very challenging period, DTCC continues to 
provide market stability and efficiency amid extraordinary 
volatility and record-setting volumes. It is a testament to 
our dedicated team—most of whom are working remotely—
and our strong partnership with clients, regulators 
and other stakeholders that we continues to rise to the 
challenge.

Dear Stakeholder,

Sometimes, the most meaningful compliments come 
when you least expect them. About a year ago, one of our clients at the annual DTCC Fintech conference stopped 
a colleague during the post-event reception. Typically, this person attended industry conferences but rarely stayed 
until the end. This time—with experts on new technologies describing a bold vision of the future of post-trade 
processing—was different.

“I never realized that market infrastructures are leading so much creative innovation in the industry,” he said. 
“Years from now, we’ll look back and see just how influential companies like DTCC were in transforming the 
industry.”

Leading so much creative innovation in the industry? When I heard about that conversation, I smiled because it 
acknowledged all the work we’ve been doing in recent years to define the future of market structure. More than 
that, the story reinforced our own progress in making a broader impact on the industry to solve vexing industry 
pain points and operational challenges.

Refreshing Our Strategy: Keeping Clients at the Center
In 2019, we took stock of our Vision, Mission and strategic goals, recognizing that at a time when transformation 
is occurring at rapid speed, we need to assess and, at times, quickly pivot to make sure that our priorities remain 
aligned with our clients’ top needs. With that in mind, we launched a comprehensive review of our strategy last 
year, taking into consideration industry trends and feedback from our Board of Directors and clients. We also 
performed an objective analysis of our capabilities, and we challenged ourselves to identify where we could make 
the biggest impact on the industry. 

We concluded that, while our strategy remains consistent with our clients’ needs, we identified areas to fine-tune 
it for greater precision. The result is a natural progression to support an evolving marketplace and our updated 
Strategic Goals will chart our course forward. We will Protect the Capital Markets. We will Transform the Post-
Trade Ecosystem. We will Rearchitect our Services. And we will Elevate the Client Experience. Our promise to 
you is that the initiatives we undertake in the future will be sharply focused on solving our clients’ most pressing 

https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/may/06/my-perspective-fintech-2019
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problems and “moving the needle” for them.

This commitment to protecting, transforming, rearchitecting 
and elevating is reflected in our refreshed brand, which we are 
officially launching with the release of this year’s Annual Report. 
“Advancing Financial Markets. Together.” articulates our strategy 
and tells the world that we’re a company with deep expertise and 
a proven track record for innovation and driving positive change 
across global markets. Our brand reinforces our partnership 
and collaboration with the industry and our ability to lead 
transformation, and it speaks to the opportunities we create and 
the challenges we solve for the industry. 

It also speaks to our future endeavors—to providing leading-
edge risk management and resilient technology and processes; 
to creating flexible and digital infrastructure and integrated 
solutions; to simplifying complexities and enhancing operational 
stability; and to delivering an experience that “wows” our clients and demonstrates the value they derive from 
their investment in DTCC. Our brand is more than aspiration; it is a declaration.

Our WHY: Protecting Global Financial Stability
If you’re familiar with Simon Sinek, the best-selling author and speaker on business and leadership, you probably 
know his quest to help companies define their “WHY” to unlock their potential and inspire their employees and 
clients. In his popular book, “Start With Why,” he asks, “By WHY I mean what is your purpose, cause or belief? 
WHY does your company exist? WHY do you get out of bed every morning? And WHY should anyone care?” 
At DTCC, our WHY is undeniable: We protect the stability and integrity of the global financial system. It’s the 
foundation of our organization and serves as the rallying cry that unites our employees and gives peace of mind to 
the industry, especially during times of crisis.

In 2019, when extreme volatility felt more like the norm than the exception, we lived our 
WHY by providing certainty when the markets needed us most.

As an industry-owned and governed market infrastructure, we have been dedicated for more than 45 years to 
delivering seamless, flawless execution every single day. In 2019, we set a processing record by handling $2.15 
quadrillion in financial transactions—a nearly 16% increase over 2018’s total of $1.85 quadrillion—as market 
volatility spurred increased volumes in equity and fixed-income clearing.

This is a staggering number—almost difficult to comprehend—and reflects a level of market activity that’s never 
been seen before, even during the 2008 financial crisis. I have a sense this may be the new normal at least for 
the foreseeable future. Unanticipated global events can emerge in many forms, as we’ve seen in the last several 
months with the coronavirus pandemic, and can be wide-ranging. Just look at our most recent Systemic Risk 
Barometer, which identifies the top threats to global financial stability. It found that geopolitical risks, ongoing 
trade tensions between the U.S., China and Europe and the threat of cyberattack continue to rank highest in our 
annual survey of the industry. 

Fortunately, our financial position is rock-solid, and we can face those and other challenges that may arise. We 
have intensely focused on strengthening our financial house during the last few years, and our firm benefitted 
from an excellent financial performance in 2019. In fact, we’re stronger than we’ve ever been, which gives us the 
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ability to invest in key priorities and also pursue new solutions for the industry.

Client Engagement Drives Product Innovation
As I mentioned earlier, “Advancing Financial Markets. Together.” speaks to the collaborative relationship we’ve 
built over the course of decades with our clients and partners. At the heart of this is listening closely to them, 
understanding their challenges and proactively offering solutions that will help alleviate the cost, risk and 
regulatory pressures they face.

Engagement is critical to our success, and we use the detailed feedback we get to inform 
our product development strategy.

In 2019, new dynamics continued to spur changes in market structure while regulations that had been delayed for 
months or even years began coming on line. This gave us the opportunity to continue to step up by helping firms 
manage their middle and back office operations more efficiently and cost-effectively. Many of the products and 
services we introduced over the last few years are bearing real fruit for the industry now.

For example, our expanded Sponsored Membership service, which enables clients to leverage a centrally cleared 
platform for their repo trading activity, experienced steady growth in 2019 as the industry recognized the benefits 
of central clearing in reducing counterparty risk and providing balance sheet and capital relief. Average daily 
trading volume increased over the course of the year and peaked in December at almost $384 billion, with the 
monthly high point hitting nearly $525 billion. We expect to see trading activity continue to climb in the years 
ahead because Sponsored Membership solves a long-standing challenge and provides significant benefits to firms.

Another success story last year was our solution to support compliance with the new Securities Financing 
Transactions Regulation (SFTR) in Europe. This is a perfect example of the alignment of our priorities with the 
industry’s needs that I spoke about earlier. In this case, we moved quickly to leverage our Global Trade Repository 
(GTR) to develop a reporting solution for securities financing transactions, using our years of expertise to ensure 
the service would support all product types to be reported under SFTR. Then we went a step further and created 
the DTCC Report Hub, which will help automate the complex data and operational requirements of SFT reporting, 
eliminating the need for clients to build in-house capabilities. By the end of 2019, more than 140 clients and 
vendors had signed onto the SFTR service, greatly exceeding our sales targets.

There are many similar examples I can cite, including implementing night cycle reengineering as part of our 
Settlement Optimization initiative, the significant growth of our Institutional Trade Processing (ITP) Exception 
Manager (DXM) solution, the strong community build for our Margin Transit Utility, the launch of DTCC Investor 
Kinetics, and the beta version of our FRTB Real Price Observations from our Data Services business. The common 
thread for all these products? They address the industry’s most pressing operational challenges and make it more 
efficient and cost effective for firms to do business.

WHY We Continue Strengthening Risk and Resilience
If our WHY is to protect the safety and stability of the global markets, then it stands to reason that we continued 
to invest in and strengthen our risk management program in 2019. Across the year, we evaluated and enhanced 
our risk models, increased our focus on third-party and vendor risk, expanded our work on cybersecurity and 
placed a renewed emphasis on business resilience. At the same time, we leveraged the massive stores of data we 
hold to provide clients with new and expanded tools and services to support their own risk management efforts. 
The feedback on our Risk as a Service has been outstanding as we rolled out new client settlement portals and 

https://www.dtcc.com/clearing-services/ficc-gov/sponsored-membership
https://www.dtcc.com/regulatory-compliance/sftr
https://www.dtcc.com/regulatory-compliance/sftr
https://www.dtcc.com/repository-and-derivatives-services/repository-services
https://www.dtcc.com/repository-and-derivatives-services/repository-services
https://www.dtcc.com/repository-and-derivatives-services/rds-plus/dtcc-report-hub
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/april/02/settlement-optimization-update-night-cycle-reengineering
https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/dtcc-exception-manager
https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/dtcc-exception-manager
http://www.dtcc.com/investor-kinetics
http://www.dtcc.com/investor-kinetics
https://www.dtcc.com/data-services/risk-and-regulatory-compliance/frtb-service
https://www.dtcc.com/data-services
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client calculators. 

For all of the intense focus on risk management, we 
are equally aware that most crises materialize without 
forewarning and, despite the very best of preparations, 
you can’t predict when, how or where a market shock will 
occur. As a result, building resilience into all aspects of our 
operations is more important than ever. We need to be able 
to absorb a market shock and recover quickly to continue 
providing access to our critical business services. We shared 
our thinking on this topic with the industry in a white paper 
last year, “Resilience First: Promoting Financial Stability by 
Planning for Disruption.”

In it, we called on all market participants to establish business resilience as a global priority and outlined a 
holistic approach, including core principles and supporting guidelines, that focuses on disaster recovery, business 
continuity management and cybersecurity in a more integrated way. We’ve been pleased by the industry’s 
receptiveness and we are excited to continue these discussions in 2020 and beyond.

We are certain that the scourge of cyberattack will grow more prevalent in the years ahead. Given the increasingly 
interconnected global markets, we launched an attestation program for clients of our clearing agency subsidiaries 
to provide assurances that they are following cybersecurity best practices and aware of their recovery capabilities. 
In addition, we continued our engagement with industry leaders and international public-private partnerships. We 
were very involved in creating the Financial Services Sector Coordinating Council Cybersecurity Profile, which 
enables firms and market infrastructures to satisfy compliance rules for multiple regulators at one time, freeing 
cyber teams from having to answer the same questions repeatedly. 

As a member of the Financial Stability Board’s cyber working group, we participated in developing a toolkit of 
effective practices for financial firms and market infrastructures to enhance their cyber incident response and 
recovery programs. All of those efforts, as well as continued work with other industry partnerships, helped 
streamline standards, develop best practices and identify potential threats to protect against an attack.

Fintech Future
Much has been said and written about the rise of fintech and its future application in the last few years, but for 
all the talk, it’s still early days. We’ve been using technology since our founding more than 45 years ago to drive 
industry change and, in my view, fintech represents an exciting opportunity to reimagine market processes and 
structure, to develop the next generation of post-trade solutions and to lead transformation in partnership with 
the industry.

It’s clear that digital platforms, application programming interfaces (APIs), distributed 
ledger technology (DLT), cryptocurrencies, applied machine learning, artificial 
intelligence, smart contracts, cloud computing and robotics will fundamentally change 
our industry. The questions are “how” and “when”? 

While there have been discussions about the long-term value of replacing or retrofitting legacy systems, more and 
more it seems that we are unlikely to experience a “Big Bang” for technology transformation. Instead, we’ll see an 
evolution that balances legacy and new technology to serve client needs. We’re working with our stakeholders 

https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/preparing-for-disruption
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/preparing-for-disruption
https://fsscc.org/Financial-Sector-Cybersecurity-Profile
https://www.fsb.org/
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/preparing-for-disruption
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to build lightweight prototypes as a starting point to test 
concepts within existing systems. By combining these 
technologies in foundational and meaningful ways, fintech 
adoption should occur more quickly over time. 

Digitization certainly will help improve efficiency, lower 
costs and reduce risks, but many challenges still need to be 
resolved. For example, we believe DLT is a powerful tool, 
but the scarcity of expert skills, the lack of standards and 
evidence of the resilience and scalability of the technology 
in an enterprise setting are challenges that everyone in the 
industry must address. Governance is key, and before DLT 
is adopted widely, the industry needs to create a model to 
provide the same type of market certainty and protection that investors have today. This is foundational to DLT’s 
long-term viability, so we took aim at addressing it by partnering with Accenture to develop a robust governance 
model to support the development and implementation of future blockchain solutions. Our joint 2019 white paper, 
“Governing DLT Networks: Distributed Ledger Technology Governance for Private Permissioned Networks,” 
offers a thoughtful approach to managing the rules, policies, standards, membership, processes and controls that 
may arise on a DLT platform.

Likewise, the rise of crypto assets creates a similar need for safety, security, reliability and industry rules. We 
outlined function-based guiding principles for regulators and market participants in another white paper last year, 
“Guiding Principles for the Post-trade Processing of Tokenized Securities.” We view both these documents as a 
launching pad for industry discussion, and the positive feedback we’ve received so far reinforces a high level of 
interest in these subjects.

While we are aware of the challenges, we also know that digitization represents the future and that we need to 
lead the industry on creating the foundation for tomorrow. That is why we spent much of 2019 exploring the 
use of APIs and how they can help us create a self-service model for our clients. We’re excited to roll out our API 
Marketplace—essentially an app store for our clients in early 2020—to give them the information and services they 
need, when they want them and how they want them.

Collaboration and Diversity Essential to Advancing Markets
There are many components that support the execution of our strategy, but two of the most essential are 
collaboration and diversity, which will enable us to respond to client needs even faster, bring products to market 
more quickly and position us to make a more significant and lasting impact on the industry. In 2019, we continued 
to embrace the Enterprise Agile operating model with strong results as more than 700 of our team members were 
formally using this new way of working—up from just 40 the prior year—and many others across the organization 
adopting these techniques informally to improve their performance. While we can see the benefits of employing 
an agile approach internally, it’s much more meaningful when our clients take notice.

Last year, we began to win applause for our efforts to proactively address issues and 
respond to concerns with greater speed, and we expect these capabilities to continue 
maturing next year and beyond.

Our workforce is changing in other ways as well. In 2019, we spent much of year bolstering our environment 
of diversity and inclusion. As you may know, I’m very passionate about this topic not just because diverse 

https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/governing-dlt-networks
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2019/march/13/dtcc-outlines-guiding-principles-for-post-trade-processing-of-tokenized-securities
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2020/february/04/dtcc-launches-new-api-marketplace-to-transform-how-clients-access-services
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2020/february/04/dtcc-launches-new-api-marketplace-to-transform-how-clients-access-services
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/governing-dlt-networks
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organizations outperform non-diverse companies in virtually every metric used, but more important, because I 
believe it’s the right thing to do. Having a company that reflects the world around us is critical to our long-term 
success. That is why we focused on new recruiting and development programs, such as Advancing Women 
Leaders, Employee Resource Groups and Global Mentoring Circles, to promote opportunities for women and 
people of color at all levels throughout DTCC. For the second consecutive year, the number of women promoted to 
Executive Director exceeded the number of men elevated to the Officer rank. This reflects good progress, but it’s 
just the beginning of our efforts to create a more diverse workforce for the future.

In recognition of these and other efforts, DTCC was 
recognized for the 8th consecutive year by the Human 
Rights Campaign as one of the Best Places to Work for 
LGBTQ Equality. In addition, Forbes placed us on the Top 
500 list of America’s Best Mid-Size Employers for the 
second year in a row and selected DTCC as one of the 
Best Employers for Diversity in 2020.

Solid Board Partnership
All our successes as an organization are the result of our people. That begins with our Board of Directors, who 
provide invaluable business intelligence, superior guidance and industry expertise but who also ask the tough 
questions to keep us sharp and operating at the highest levels. A special thank you to Bob Druskin, our non-
Executive Chairman, for his partnership and friendship. 

The DTCC Management Committee is an outstanding group of industry veterans who share a passion for the 
mission of the organization and whose leadership is responsible for guiding the firm forward. 

I save my biggest appreciation for our employees. They are the linchpin of everything 
we accomplish, and they often do it without fanfare or the recognition they rightfully 
deserve. On behalf of the Board and Management Committee, we salute you for a job 
well done. 

With our strong financial position, dynamic business performance and refreshed strategy, DTCC truly is poised to 
lead the transformation of market infrastructures and post-trade processing globally. At the same time, we remain 
committed to protecting market stability and certainty. It is an honor to serve as CEO and to have the opportunity 
to lead this outstanding organization. I’m very proud when I think about the plans we’ve executed to get to this 
point and I’m even more excited for the years to come. 

Sincerely,

Mike Bodson  
DTCC President & CEO

https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/CEI-2019-FullReport.pdf
https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/CEI-2019-FullReport.pdf
https://www.forbes.com/lists/best-midsize-employers/#6de63647210f
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2020/january/29/dtcc-top-employer-for-diversity
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A MESSAGE FROM 
BOB DRUSKIN
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board
Dear Stakeholders,

One of the key components of DTCC’s 
success over the years has been our ability 
to continually evolve to meet the changing 
needs of the industry while remaining 
steadfast in protecting market safety and 
stability. 

This delicate balancing act requires the highest degree 
of precision from the Board and management because, 
when it comes to the firm’s core responsibilities of 
clearance, settlement and risk management, there is no margin for error.

In 2019, DTCC again had an outstanding year operationally and financially, building on past achievements while 
defining a clear path for the future. In many ways, DTCC’s unique ownership and governance model sits at the 
heart of the firm’s success. Our clients are our owners and comprise a majority of the Board, which gives the 
organization deep insight into client needs, industry challenges and the solutions that are required to solve them. 
We are fortunate that our Board members are more than fiduciaries. As actual practitioners, they have decades 
of experience in post-trade processing and intimate, hands-on knowledge of our products. As a result, they play 
an active role governing the firm as well as ensuring alignment between the industry’s priorities and what DTCC 
delivers.

Having this level of expertise on the Board also provides tangible benefits that are evident in the solutions the 
company has brought to market in recent years, such as our Margin Transit Utility, our Securities Financing 
Transactions Regulation (SFTR) service and the expansion of the Sponsored Service program. In these cases, as 
well as many others, the Board provides more than just oversight and strategic guidance to management; it also 
helps identify specific pain points that need to be addressed.

In 2019, our Board members worked with the leadership team to tackle a diverse range of issues. The Board 
constructively challenged management and asked the critical questions needed to spur a dialogue that is always 
focused on a singular and shared goal: finding the best way to serve our industry. For instance, when we held an 
extended discussion last year on the firm’s investment strategy, the conversation was substantive, focused and 
spirited. In the end, we all arrived at a consensus on an effective approach to guide future decision making. 

At the heart of the relationship between the Board and management is a deep trust and respect for one another. 
Board members engage with the firm’s senior leaders one-on-one and, conversely, management has access to 
Board members to solicit feedback on issues under consideration. This level of engagement enhances the Board’s 
ability to provide oversight through effective information sharing and also helps foster a stronger partnership that 
drives increased client value and a better client experience. 
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I take great pride in working with my colleagues on the Board and appreciate their efforts in advancing the 
mission of DTCC. That is why it is always difficult to say goodbye when they leave us. In 2019, Phil Davies, David 
Kimm and Joseph Molluso moved on after many years of service. On behalf of the Board, we extend our deepest 
appreciation to them. We will miss their professional contributions and personal friendships, but we also recognize 
they are departing for all the right reasons–new jobs, expanded roles or the opportunity to dedicate their energies 
to other assignments to improve the industry.

At the same time, we were excited to welcome Kieran Hanrahan, Raj Mahajan and Graeme McEvoy to the Board. 
We’re fortunate to have such a distinguished group of industry leaders join us and I am confident that the Board, in 
collaboration with Mike and his team, will continue to work together in a constructive and effective way. 

It goes without saying that I reserve my biggest thanks for the employees of DTCC. They do outstanding work 
each day to protect the global markets. They take this responsibility very seriously and, regardless of the challenge 
or crisis confronting them, they are determined to safeguard the financial system and provide stability and 
certainty when it’s needed most. As we focus on 2020 and beyond, my enthusiasm and excitement for the future 
continues to grow. I look forward to working with the Board and the DTCC management team to position the firm 
for many more years of success.

Sincerely,

Bob Druskin  
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board

Note: Two new directors were elected at the March 2020 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting – Deborah Cunningham and Craig 
Messinger.
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OUR STRATEGIC GOALS
PROTECT THE CAPITAL MARKETS
Strengthen DTCC and our industry through leading-edge risk management 
with resilient technology and processes

TRANSFORM THE POST-TRADE ECOSYSTEM
Shape the future of post-trade by reimagining industry infrastructure and 
practices to reduce risk and cost for both DTCC and our clients

REARCHITECT OUR CLIENT SERVICES
Deliver a modern platform focused on client value, simplification, and 
operational stability

ELEVATE THE CLIENT EXPERIENCE
Provide our clients with flawless daily execution, automated digital 
interaction, and superior service

OUR VISION
To be the leader in post-trade infrastructure through  
superior execution, risk management and innovation.

OUR MISSION
To deliver the world’s most resilient, secure and efficient  

post-trade platform for our clients.

OUR VALUES
We value Integrity, Clients, Inclusion, Results and Excellence.
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OUR THOUGHT LEADERSHIP
At a time when financial services firms face increasing cost, risk and 
regulatory pressures, we are tackling some of the top operational and 
technology challenges with fresh ideas and insightful commentary. Working 
together with our clients and industry partners, we are helping to lead the 
global conversation on critical industry issues.



16DTCC  |  2019 Annual Report

White Papers
Resilience First
Promoting Financial Stability by Planning for Disruption | DOWNLOAD

Tokenized Securities
Guiding Principles for the Post-Trade Processing of Tokenized Securities | DOWNLOAD

A Roadmap to Automation
How an SSI Utility Benefits all Participants | DOWNLOAD

Steampunk Settlement
Deploying Futuristic Technology to Achieve an Anachronistic Result | DOWNLOAD

Re-Imagining Post-Trade
No-Touch Processing Within Reach | DOWNLOAD

Governing DLT Networks
Distributed Ledger Technology Governance for Private Permissioned Networks | DOWNLOAD

Articles
DTCC Provides Vision for Central Clearing in the U.S. Treasury Cash Market
READ NOW

Systemic Risk Barometer: Forecast 2020
READ NOW

The API Value Story
READ NOW

https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/preparing-for-disruption
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/guiding-principles-for-the-post-trade-processing-of-tokenized-securities
https://communications.dtcc.com/rs/669-QIL-921/images/DTCC%20Roadmap%20to%20Automation.pdf
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/steampunk-settlement
https://communications.dtcc.com/rs/669-QIL-921/images/DTCC%20Re-Imagining%20Post-Trade.pdf
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/governing-dlt-networks
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2019/may/07/dtcc-provides-vision-for-central-clearing-in-the-us-treasury-cash-market
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/systemic-risk-barometer-forecast-2020
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/introducing-the-api-marketplace
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Executive Recognition
Michael Bodson, CEO
Global Custodian’s Industry Leaders Awards, 
Lifetime Achievement

Marisol Collazo, Managing Director
Waters Technology, Women in Technology & Data 
Awards, Vendor Partnership or Alliance Professional 
of the Year

Nellie Dagdag, Managing Director
Markets Choice Awards: Women in Finance Asia, 
Excellence in Leadership

Michele Hillery, Managing Director
Markets Choice Awards: Women in Finance, 
Excellence in Clearing

Business Recognition
GTR: FOW International Awards
Trade Repository of the Year

GTR: Global Custodian Leaders in Custody / 
Innovation Awards 2019
Editor’s Choice Innovation Award

Exception Manager: Markets Choice Awards
Best New Product

Securities and Exchange Commission 
Philippines
Plaque of Recognition

Community Recognition
United Way of New York City’s Awards
Youth Leadership Council Corporate Champion

Mayor of London Volunteering Awards
Business in Action

Corporate Recognition
2019 Forbes
America’s Best Mid-Size Employers

2019 Human Rights Campaign
Best Place to Work for LGBTQ Equality

AWARDS & RECOGNITION
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Robert Druskin
Non-Executive Chairman of DTCC’s Board and Chairman of the Board Executive 
Committee

Robert Druskin is Non-Executive Chairman of DTCC’s Board and Chairman of the Board 
Executive Committee. Druskin served as Executive Chairman from April 2011 to December 
31, 2015.

Previously, Druskin was Lead Director of E*Trade from May through December 2009, interim Chief Executive 
Officer from December 2009 to March 2010, and Chairman of the Board from December 2009 to March 2011.

Prior to that, Druskin spent nearly 16 years at Citigroup and its predecessor companies in a number of senior 
executive positions across the organization, including Chief Operating Officer and Member of the Office of the 
Chairman, Chief Operations and Technology Officer, and Chief Executive Officer of the Global Corporate and 
Investment Banking Division.

Druskin was with Salomon Smith Barney (and previously Smith Barney) for nine years and held a number of senior 
positions, including Chief Administrative Officer. Prior to joining Smith Barney, he was Chief Financial Officer of 
Shearson Lehman Brothers.

Mike Bodson
President and Chief Executive Officer, DTCC; President and Chief Executive Officer, DTC, 
FICC and NSCC

Michael C. Bodson is President and Chief Executive Officer of DTCC. He is also President and 
Chief Executive Officer of DTCC’s principal operating subsidiaries, DTC, FICC and NSCC, and 
a member of DTCC’s Board of Directors.

In his prior position as DTCC’s Chief Operating Officer, Bodson had enterprise-wide responsibility for all 
Information Technology and Operations and oversaw DTCC Deriv/SERV LLC and EuroCCP. He previously served 
as Chairman of various DTCC subsidiaries, including Deriv/SERV and Omgeo.

Bodson joined DTCC in 2007 as Executive Managing Director for Business Management and Strategy. Prior to 
this, he held a number of senior management positions with Morgan Stanley over a 20-year period. In his last 
position at Morgan Stanley, he was Global Head of the Institutional, Retail and Asset Management Operations 
Department. He previously served as Divisional Operations Officer for the Institutional Securities Group and 
Head of the Enterprise Information Group. He served as Head of Finance, Administration and Operations for 
Morgan Stanley Japan in Tokyo and, prior to that, he held similar responsibilities for Morgan Stanley Asia in Hong 
Kong. Prior to joining Morgan Stanley, he worked at Bear Stearns and Price Waterhouse.

Bodson is a CPA and graduated magna cum laude from Boston College. He currently is a member of the Board 
of Digital Asset Holdings and is a Trustee of the World Economic Forum’s Financial Services Initiative. He is also 
a member of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York Fintech Advisory Group as well as the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) Systemic Resolution Advisory Committee.
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Robert Colby
Chief Legal Officer, Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA)

Robert L.D. Colby is Chief Legal Officer of FINRA, where he oversees FINRA’s rulemaking, 
interpretive and corporate legal functions, as well as FINRA’s Advertising, Corporate 
Financing and Dispute Resolution Departments, and FINRA’s Appellate Office.

Before joining FINRA, Colby was a partner in the law firm of Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, where he advised on 
regulatory and compliance matters involving securities and derivatives for financial institutions and markets.

Before joining Davis Polk, he served as Deputy Director in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Division of 
Trading and Markets. In that capacity, he was responsible for the regulation of broker-dealers, securities markets 
and clearing organizations. Before serving as Deputy Director, he was Chief Counsel of the Division of Trading and 
Markets, and Chief of the Division’s Branch of Market Structure.

Colby received his J.D. cum laude from Harvard Law School and his undergraduate degree summa cum laude from 
Bowdoin College.

Shawn K. Feeney
Managing Director and Chief Administrative Officer, North America Markets and 
Securities Services, Citigroup

Shawn K. Feeney is a Managing Director at Citigroup and Chief Administrative Officer for 
Markets and Securities Services, which consists of institutional sales and trading, distribution 
and research activities spanning a broad range of asset classes and products. Previously, 

Feeney spent eight years as the Lead Finance Officer for Global Markets. He has also served as Global Fixed 
Income’s Chief Financial Officer and its Chief Administrative Officer.

Feeney joined Citi in 1984 as a senior accountant in the Management Reporting Group at Salomon Brothers. He 
has also worked in Planning and Analysis, Controllers, Office of the Chairman, High Yield and Global Loans. From 
1981 to 1984, Feeney worked as a staff accountant at Price Waterhouse.

At Citi, he is a member of the Policy Committee, Security Risk Committee and 401(k) Investment Committee. 
Feeney is a CPA and a graduate of Georgetown University’s McDonough School of Business. He currently is a 
member of the American Bankers Association Securities Association (ABASA) Board of Directors.

Claudine Gallagher
Managing Director and Americas Head of Securities Services, BNP Paribas

Claudine Gallagher is Managing Director and Head of Securities Services, Americas, for BNP 
Paribas. She is responsible for the strategic development of the region, spearheading its client 
and product development, and marketing initiatives. She joined the firm in 2012 as Head of 
North America for Securities Services.

Prior to joining BNP Paribas, Gallagher was an executive at J.P. Morgan for 10 years in a variety of senior 
management roles. In her most recent role there, she was Global Head of Depository Receipts (DRs), a position she 
had held since 2006. At BNP Paribas, she serves on various senior committees throughout the bank, including the 
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Executive Committees of the BNP Paribas Americas Territory and of BNP Paribas Securities Services.

She has been named one of the “25 Most Powerful Women in Finance” by American Banker Magazine for the 
past four consecutive years, and she was recently named one of the “30 to Shape the Future” by Global Custodian 
Magazine. Gallagher is a graduate of the University of Massachusetts with a Bachelor of Arts in French Literature 
and Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance.

David S. Goone
Chief Strategic Officer, Intercontinental Exchange (ICE)

Dave S. Goone is Chief Strategy Officer of Intercontinental Exchange, Inc. (NYSE: ICE). He is 
responsible for all aspects of ICE’s product line, including futures products and capabilities 
for ICE’s electronic platform.

Goone also represents ICE on industry boards including the Options Clearing Corporation and National Futures 
Association. Additionally, he is a Director of ICE Mortgage Services, the governing board of MERSCORP Holdings, 
Inc.

Prior to joining ICE in 2001, Goone was Managing Director and Head of Product Development and Sales at the 
Chicago Mercantile Exchange. Before joining the CME in 1992, Goone served as a Vice President at Indosuez Carr 
Futures, where he was instrumental in developing institutional and corporate business. Prior to joining Indosuez, 
Goone worked at Chase Manhattan Bank, where he developed and managed the company’s exchange-traded 
foreign currency options operation at CME.

Goone earned a Bachelor of Science in Accountancy from the University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign.

Kieran Hanrahan
Managing Director, Corporate and Investment Bank, J.P. Morgan Chase

Kieran Hanrahan is a Managing Director in J.P. Morgan Chase’s Corporate and Investment 
Bank based in New York. Hanrahan is responsible for managing all aspects of the Corporate 
and Investment Bank’s Global Markets Operations and also has regional responsibility for 
Latin American and EMEA Branch Operations.

Hanrahan manages a team of approximately 3,300 people located in 34 trading locations and service centers 
around the globe. His team manages the daily operational processes for a diverse range of businesses and 
products such as bonds, equities, FX, listed and OTC derivatives, and commodities. Prior to his current role, over 
the last 20 years, he has managed a number of Markets Operations and Product Control teams across rates, SPG, 
FX, credit trading and emerging markets.

Hanrahan places an emphasis on building high-performing teams and aligning his Operations team’s goals with 
those of the businesses he supports. Key projects that he has managed for JPM include Euro Exit contingency 
planning, implementation of the Swap Margin Rule, MiFID2 and operational preparations for Brexit.

Prior to joining J.P. Morgan Chase, Hanrahan worked as an auditor with PwC in Ireland and the UK from 1991 to 
1995. Hanrahan qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1996.
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Michael Herskovitz
Senior Vice President and Director, Fixed-Income/Derivatives Risk Operations and 
Technology, AllianceBernstein

Michael Herskovitz is a Senior Vice President and Director, Fixed-Income/Derivatives 
Risk Operations and Technology at AllianceBernstein. In his role, he oversees the key 
infrastructure related to the firm’s fixed-income, derivatives and alternatives areas. 

Herskovitz joined AB in 2006 from UBS, where he was the Managing Director for Risk and Finance Technology.

Herskovitz has held senior technology management and quantitative research positions with Morgan Stanley, 
including the London-based role of international CIO, at Merrill Lynch and at Zurich Scudder Investments.

He started his financial services career working on Merrill Lynch’s corporate bond trading desk as a hedging/
arbitrage analyst before becoming a mortgage-backed securities research analyst. Since 1985, Herskovitz has 
gained extensive analytical and technical experience in financial services, including fixed income, commodities, 
derivative products and risk management. Herskovitz has coauthored two books and many research papers on 
mortgage-backed securities pricing and analytics. He holds a BS in operations research and an MS in industrial 
administration from Carnegie Mellon University.

Lori Hricik
Former Chief Executive Officer and Head of Treasury Services, J.P. Morgan

Lori Hricik is the former Chief Executive Officer and Head of J.P. Morgan Treasury Services.

Hricik retired from J.P. Morgan in 2008, having become a globally recognized leader in 
delivering technology-driven treasury, cash management, liquidity, trade finance and 

information solutions to corporations, financial services companies and government entities worldwide. She 
worked extensively with the industry and regulators on global payments initiatives.

Hricik joined Chase in 1976 from the Securities Industry Automation Corporation and has held a number of 
executive positions in technology, operations, administration and finance. She earned an MBA from Columbia 
University.

Pinar Kip Williamson
Executive Vice President, Global Head of Transformation and Client Delivery 
Management, State Street

Pinar Kip Williamson is Executive Vice President and the Global Head of the Transformation 
and Client Delivery Management organization at State Street. Previously, she held roles 
leading the Global Strategic Operations, Strategic Enterprise Business Solutions and 

Restructuring divisions, and she served as the Design Lead for the State Street Beacon program. She also serves 
as the executive sponsor of State Street’s Leadership Development Program and the New York Professional 
Women’s Network.

Prior to joining State Street, Kip Williamson was a strategy consultant with Booz & Company, with expertise in 
capital markets strategy and transformation. Additionally, she worked in Bank of America’s Global Structured 
Finance division. She serves on the board of directors for All In Together and Partnership with Children.
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Kip Williamson attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) and holds two B.S. degrees in Electrical 
Engineering / Computer Science and Management Science with a minor in Economics. She also holds an MBA from 
Harvard Business School.

Kathleen Lynch
Chief Operating Officer, UBS Americas and Wealth Management Americas (WMA)

Kathleen B. Lynch has had a distinguished career in the financial services industry spanning 
more than three decades and including a range of senior executive roles.

Most recently, Lynch served as Chief Operating Officer for UBS Americas and Wealth 
Management Americas (WMA). She was a member of the firm’s Combined U.S. Operations Management 
Committee and the WMA Executive Committee. She currently serves as a Non-Executive Director on the Board 
of Directors of UBS Americas Holding LLC.

As WMA COO, Lynch was responsible for the oversight of the front to back control environment and supported 
the execution of the business division’s strategy, while also ensuring operational efficiency and effectiveness. 
Critical areas in her portfolio included technology and operations, risk management and UBS’s regulatory 
framework. In her role as UBS Americas COO, Lynch focused on further integrating all of the firm’s businesses and 
support functions across the region. She also supported the President of UBS Americas in all regulatory activities 
and oversaw the governance and control framework in the region.

Lynch joined UBS in June 2012 as an advisor to senior management on a number of key initiatives, including the 
strengthening of UBS’s regulatory and operating framework in the Americas region.

Prior to UBS, Lynch was Chief Operating Officer of Bank of America Merrill Lynch Global Research, responsible 
for Publishing & Distribution, Supervisory Analysts, Business Management and various support functions.

Raj Mahajan
Global Head, Systematic Client Franchise, Goldman Sachs

Raj Mahajan is global head of the Goldman Sachs systematic client franchise. Previously, he 
was co-head of Securities Division Engineering. Before that, Mahajan was global head of 
Equities Electronic Execution Services. He first joined Goldman Sachs in 1996 as an analyst in 
the firm’s commodities business and rejoined the firm as a partner in 2015.

Prior to rejoining the firm, Mahajan served as Chief Executive Officer of Allston Trading, a Chicago-based market 
making firm. Earlier in his career, he was president of global trading at SunGard, which he joined in 2004 after the 
firm acquired Kiodex, the commodities trading technology company that he co-founded in 2000.

A recipient of a Ford Foundation Fellowship, Mahajan earned an MPA with an emphasis on Economics and Public 
Policy from Princeton University and a BA in Economics from the University of California, Berkeley.
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Graeme McEvoy
Managing Director, Global Operations Division, Morgan Stanley

Graeme McEvoy is a Managing Director in the Global Operations division at Morgan Stanley, 
based in New York. He is the Global Head of Institutional Securities Group Operations, 
responsible for the operational support of the Trading and Sales functions of the firm’s ISG 
business lines.

McEvoy joined Morgan Stanley in 2008, initially to run the Shared Services Operations team and has been in his 
current role since 2013. He previously spent 12 years at Goldman Sachs, in both London and New York, running 
the Operations team and supporting the J Aron commodities business and in other operations roles in the 
securities space.

Prior to joining the DTCC Board of Directors, he served on the DTCC Deriv/SERV board and the DTCC/ITP Board 
of Managers. He is also a Vice Chairman of the SIFMA Operations and Technology Steering Committee.

McEvoy graduated from Exeter University in the UK with a degree in History in 1991 and spent several years in 
early part of his career serving as a Submarine Officer in the Royal Navy.

Joseph Noto
Managing Director and the Americas Treasurer, Barclays

Joseph Noto is a Managing Director and the Americas Treasurer for Barclays. He is the 
Treasurer of the U.S. Intermediate Holding Company (IHC) and is responsible for key 
financial resources including capital, leverage, funding and liquidity, as well asset & liability 
management for both the IHC and Consolidated U.S. Operations (CUSO). Noto provides 

oversight for liquidity and capital adequacy for the IHC and CUSO including the annual CCAR process and is 
responsible for ensuring that interest rate and FX risks are appropriately managed within risk appetite. He also 
manages the legal entity treasury functions for Barclays Bank of Delaware and Barclays Bank Mexico, SA.

At Barclays, Noto is a member of the Board of Directors of Barclays Capital, Inc., the U.S. Executive Committee 
and the 401(k) Investment Committee.

Noto joined Barclays in 2017 as the Global Head of Funding & Liquidity Management for Barclays International. 
Prior to joining Barclays, he held a variety of treasury and business roles at Citadel, J.P. Morgan, Bear Stearns and 
Prudential.

Noto holds an MBA from NYU Stern School of Business, an MA from Princeton University and a BA from Drew 
University, and he is a CFA charterholder. He is a member of the Drew University Board of Trustees, where he is 
chairman of the Finance Committee.

Emily Portney
Head of Asset Servicing, Americas for Bank of New York Mellon Corporation

Emily Portney leads the client management, sales and service teams for BNY Mellon’s 
Asset Servicing globally. She also oversees the Americas region for the business, which 
encompasses the U.S., Latin America and Canada. Asset Servicing delivers investment 
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administration, operational and technology solutions to alternative investment managers, asset managers, asset 
owners, insurance companies, banks and broker-dealers.

Portney was previously Chief Financial Officer for Barclays International, where she helped to establish the non-
ring-fenced bank, and led a global organization spanning the Corporate and Investment Bank, the Private Bank, 
and the Cards and Payments businesses. She joined Barclays from Visa, where she was the CFO of North America.

Prior to Visa, she spent 22 years at J.P. Morgan, where she was the Global Head of Clearing and Collateral 
Management, a brokerage unit that provided agency execution, clearing and collateral management services 
across derivatives and securities markets worldwide. Portney started with J.P. Morgan in 1993 and performed 
various roles over the course of her career, including the CFO of Equities and Prime Services.

Portney serves on the Board of Directors for MarketAxess. She holds a Master of Business Administration from 
Columbia Business School and a bachelor’s degree from Duke University.

Ann N. Reese
Founder and Co-Executive Director, Center for Adoption Policy

Ann N. Reese founded the Center for Adoption Policy in New York in 2001 and serves as its 
Co-Executive Director. The organization provides research, analysis, advice and education 
to practitioners and the public about current legislation and practices governing ethical 
domestic and intercountry adoption.

Prior to that, Reese served as a Principal with Clayton, Dubilier & Rice, a private equity investment firm, in 1999 
and 2000. From 1995 to 1998, she was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of ITT Corporation, 
a hotel and gaming company. She has extensive executive experience in corporate finance, financial reporting and 
strategic planning through her position as a public company chief financial officer as well as corporate governance 
expertise gained from her experience on other public company boards.

She is a Trustee of the University of Pennsylvania, where she is a member of the Executive Committee and chair 
of the Audit Committee. Reese also serves as a Director on the Boards of Sears Holdings. She is also a member of 
the Board of Overseers of the School of Social Policy and Practice (SP2) at Penn, and a member of the Trustees 
Council of Penn Women.

Reese has an MBA from the Stern School of Business at New York University and a BA from the University of 
Pennsylvania.

Paul Simpson
Global Banking & Markets Operations Executive, Bank of America

Paul Simpson is the Global Banking & Markets Operations and Regions executive at Bank 
of America. He leads a team responsible for operations for institutional and commercial, 
corporate, investment banking and government clients, as well as small business and business 
banking clients. The team delivers end-to-end services, support and operations for sales, 

trading and underwriting businesses and comprehensive financial services solutions, including credit, depository, 
treasury and trade delivery and support. Simpson also leads the regional technology and operations teams in the 
Asia Pacific, Europe, Middle East & Africa, and Latin America regions. Simpson is also responsible for robotics and 
robotics process automation optimization across Global Technology and Operations.
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Prior to this role, Simpson was managing director and global head of Equity Asset Management Services at Bank 
of America Merrill Lynch. He was responsible for multiple Global Markets businesses, including Prime Brokerage, 
Stock Loans, Swaps, Global Custody and Agency Services, Futures & Options, OTC Clearing and Foreign Exchange 
Prime Brokerage.

Simpson previously led the Global Transactions Services business, which included payments, liquidity and 
investments, receivables, trade and supply chain finance, and custody and agency services. He has more than 28 
years of experience working in the financial services industry, principally in treasury and trade services, public 
sector and commodities.

Prior to joining the bank in 2011, Simpson was with Citigroup as global head of Treasury & Trade Solutions in the 
Global Transaction Services group. He joined Citi in 2007 as head of Global Public Sector & Healthcare Markets. 
Previously, Simpson was with J.P. Morgan Chase in roles with increasing responsibility within Treasury Services, 
Public Sector and Healthcare. Earlier in his career, he spent time with Deutsche Bank as head of eCash Solutions 
and head of Trade Services. Prior to that he was with ANZ Banking Group in Trade and Commodity Finance in 
Sydney Australia.

Simpson’s external industry participation includes several prominent positions. He is a board member of 
Georgetown’s University McDonough School of Business Advisory Council. He has held previous board positions 
with: Private Export Finance Corporation (PEFCO); Foreign Policy Associates (FPA); and Managed Funds 
Association (MFA). He has also held various committee leadership positions with Bankers Association of Foreign 
Trade (BAFT) and SWIFT.

He holds a B.S. in Russian from Georgetown University (minors/concentrations in Business and Chinese) and an 
MBA in Finance, Economics and International Business from New York University Stern School of Business. He 
also studied in Moscow at the Pushkin Institute.

Gary H. Stern
Former President and Chief Executive Officer, Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis

Gary H. Stern was President and Chief Executive Officer of the Federal Reserve Bank of 
Minneapolis from March 1985 to September 2009. Stern joined the Federal Reserve Bank of 
Minneapolis in January 1982 as senior vice president and director of research. Before joining 
the Minneapolis Fed, Stern was a partner in a New York-based economic consulting firm. 

Stern’s prior experience includes seven years at the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

Stern serves on the board of directors of the Council for Economic Education (CEE) and Heller-Hurwicz Economics 
Institute of the University of Minnesota. Stern is co-author of Too Big to Fail: The Hazards of Bank Bailouts, 
published by the Brookings Institution (2004). Stern is a member of the FDIC’s Systemic Resolution Advisory 
Committee.

Stern holds an A.B. in economics from Washington University, St. Louis, and a Ph.D. in economics from Rice 
University, Houston. He formerly served as Chair of the Board of the Northwest Area Foundation, The 
Minneapolis Club and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Minnesota. He was also a board member of FINRA, the Dolan 
Company, Minneapolis College of Art and Design, and ETS. Stern is the recipient of the 2009 Visionary Award 
from CEE and the Distinguished Alumnus Award from Washington University’s College of Liberal Arts in 2010.
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Joseph Weinhoffer
Treasurer and Chief Investment Officer, EDF Man Capital Markets Inc. (MCM)

Joseph Weinhoffer is Treasurer and Chief Investment Officer of EDF Man Capital Markets 
Inc. (MCM), with responsibility for firm financing, capital management, bank relationships, 
investing client segregated assets and supervising the Prime Services business.

Prior to joining MCM in 2014, Weinhoffer was a Managing Director at Mitsubishi UFJ Securities (MUS) 
responsible for U.S. Treasury, repo and stock loan. Before joining MUS in 2009, Weinhoffer was at Annaly Capital 
Management, where he established RCap Securities. From 2001 until 2008, Weinhoffer was the Founder and 
CEO of Quadriserv, a stock loan marketplace. Prior to Quadriserv, Weinhoffer served at Morgan Stanley, Merrill 
Lynch and Bank of New York. Prior to his civilian career, Weinhoffer served in the U.S. Army for five years.

Weinhoffer is a graduate of the United States Military Academy and the Columbia Business School, and he is CFA 
and CAIA chartered.
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MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mike Bodson
President and Chief Executive Officer, DTCC; President and Chief Executive Officer of 
DTC, FICC and NSCC

Michael C. Bodson is President and Chief Executive Officer of DTCC. He is also President and 
Chief Executive Officer of DTCC’s principal operating subsidiaries, DTC, FICC and NSCC, and 
a member of DTCC’s Board of Directors.

In his prior position as DTCC’s Chief Operating Officer, Bodson had enterprise-wide responsibility for all 
Information Technology and Operations and oversaw DTCC Deriv/SERV LLC and EuroCCP. He previously served 
as Chairman of various DTCC subsidiaries, including Deriv/SERV and Omgeo.

Bodson joined DTCC in 2007 as Executive Managing Director for Business Management and Strategy. Prior to 
this, he held a number of senior management positions with Morgan Stanley over a 20-year period. In his last 
position at Morgan Stanley, he was Global Head of the Institutional, Retail and Asset Management Operations 
Department. He previously served as Divisional Operations Officer for the Institutional Securities Group and 
Head of the Enterprise Information Group. He served as Head of Finance, Administration and Operations for 
Morgan Stanley Japan in Tokyo and, prior to that, he held similar responsibilities for Morgan Stanley Asia in Hong 
Kong. Prior to joining Morgan Stanley, he worked at Bear Stearns and Price Waterhouse.

Bodson is a CPA and graduated magna cum laude from Boston College. He currently is a member of the Board 
of Digital Asset Holdings and is a Trustee of the World Economic Forum’s Financial Services Initiative. He is also 
a member of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York Fintech Advisory Group as well as the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) Systemic Resolution Advisory Committee.

Lynn Bishop
Managing Director and Chief Information Officer (CIO)

Lynn Bishop is Managing Director and Chief Information Officer (CIO) at DTCC. As CIO, she 
is responsible for the ongoing development and testing of all the technology that supports 
DTCC’s post-trade infrastructure, communications networks, processing and messaging 
systems, as well as the IT applications underlying DTCC’s broad range of products and 

services. She is also a member of the firm’s Management Committee.

As a leader in DTCC’s technology team for over a decade, Bishop previously served as DTCC’s Chief Development 
Officer (CDO) and, before that, she was Chief Technology Officer (CTO). She started her career at Accenture, 
during which time she gained extensive experience delivering systems integration, architecture, project 
management, and business and information technology solutions for several large global financial institutions.

A champion for diversity and inclusion, Bishop dedicates her time and shares her experiences to support the 
advancement of women in STEM careers. She was recently appointed DTCC’s senior sponsor of Girls Who 
Code, a national nonprofit organization working to close the gender gap in technology, and she actively supports 
DTCC’s D&I efforts, including programs and initiatives that are helping to develop emerging talent and women in 
technology.
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Bishop graduated from Bucknell University with a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration.

Susan Cosgrove
Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer

Susan Cosgrove is Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer, leading DTCC’s global 
finance, treasury, strategic sourcing, real estate, corporate services and new initiatives 
oversight teams. She is a member of DTCC’s Management Committee and Management Risk 
Committee and co-chairs the Investment and Operating Committee.

Cosgrove is chairperson of DTCC’s Deriv/SERV LLC Board of Directors. In addition, she chairs the boards of 
several of the DTCC trade repositories: DTCC Data Repository (U.S.) LLC; DTCC Derivatives Repository Plc; and 
DTCC Data Repository (Ireland) Plc. Cosgrove also chairs the DTCC ITP Board of Managers, is a board member of 
WisdomTree (WETF) and serves as Vice Chair of the Board of PENCIL, an education nonprofit that brings together 
business professionals, educators and students.

Prior to her current role, Cosgrove was Managing Director and General Manager of Settlement and Asset 
Services, overseeing all depository businesses, and the General Manager for DTCC’s Equity and Fixed Income 
Clearing Services. Before joining DTCC in 1999, she served as a senior vice president at Lehman Brothers in charge 
of audit and compliance for the company’s Americas division. Before Lehman, she worked at Maxcor Financial 
Group for 10 years as Chief Financial Officer and Head of Compliance. Cosgrove began her career as a senior 
auditor in PricewaterhouseCoopers’ financial services group.

Andrew Gray
Managing Director and Group Chief Risk Officer

Andrew Gray is Managing Director and Group Chief Risk Officer, with global responsibility 
for all aspects of DTCC’s Risk Management, including Credit, Market & Liquidity Risk, 
Model Risk, Operational Risk Management, Third Party Risk Management, Systemic Risk, 
Information Security and Technology Risk Management, Business Continuity Management 

and Global Security Management. He also has responsibility for DTCC’s Enterprise Data Management program.

Prior to this role, Gray served as Managing Director, Core Business Management, with overarching responsibility 
for DTCC’s businesses, including Clearance and Settlement of Equities and Fixed Income products, Asset Services, 
Wealth Management Services, Insurance & Retirement Services, Institutional Trade Processing and Data Services 
as well as the firm’s Marketing & Communications function.

Gray serves on the board of the International Securities Services Association (ISSA). He also serves as a board 
member for the external Advisory Board of the NYU Stern Volatility and Risk Institute (VRI) as well as the Board of 
Trustees of Global Association of Risk Professionals (GARP). He is the Chair of the Management Risk Committee.

Before joining DTCC in September 2009, Gray spent more than a decade with Merrill Lynch. Most recently, he 
served as Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer for Merrill’s Latin American and Canadian businesses. 
Prior to that, he was a Managing Director in Strategy and Business Development for Merrill’s Global Markets and 
Investment Banking businesses and for Global Securities Research & Economics. Previously, he was a principal at 
Booz Allen & Hamilton, a global management consulting firm.
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Timothy Keady
Managing Director and Head of DTCC Solutions

Timothy Keady is Chief Client Officer (CCO) and Head of DTCC Solutions. In his role as 
CCO, Keady leads DTCC’s Sales, Relationship Management, Global Solutions Delivery and 
Marketing & Communications functions, which support the company’s global client base and 
drive increased enterprise-wide client value across all services. As Head of DTCC Solutions, 

he is responsible for overseeing DTCC’s Derivatives and Collateral, Institutional Trade Processing and Data 
Services businesses. He also Co-chairs the Investment and Operating Committee.

Previously, Tim served as Managing Director, Sales & Solution Delivery, for Omgeo prior to DTCC’s acquisition 
of the firm. In this role, he oversaw the sales, relationship management, global partners, global marketing, sales 
planning & execution and integration teams. Before joining Omgeo, Tim was an account executive at Thomson 
Financial ESG. He has also held sales positions at Fidelity Investments Institutional Services Co. and Keystone 
Mutual Funds.

During his more than two-decade career in financial services, Tim has created multiple programs, products and 
initiatives that have successfully secured strategic partnerships, streamlined processes for maximum efficiency 
and penetrated new, international markets. He has consistently played a key role in recognizing clients’ needs and 
aligning them with revenue-enhancing solutions worldwide.

Anthony Portannese
Managing Director and Chief Human Resources Officer

Anthony Portannese is Managing Director and Chief Human Resources Officer. He is 
responsible for leading all global human resources activities, including the planning, design 
and delivery of corporate compensation and benefit programs, executive compensation 
programs, employee relations, talent strategies and diversity.

Portannese joined The Depository Trust Company (DTC) in 1981. During his career at the company, he has 
held numerous leadership roles within Human Resources, Operations, Real Estate and Corporate Services. He 
was promoted to Managing Director in 2005 and serves as Chair on the Foundation Board of the Borough of 
Manhattan Community College.

Murray C. Pozmanter
Managing Director and Head of Clearing Agency Services and Global Operations and 
Client Services

Murray Pozmanter is Managing Director and Head of Clearing Agency Services and Global 
Operations and Client Services. He has responsibility for the development and marketing of 
products and services related to DTCC’s post-trade processing of transactions across DTC, 

NSCC and FICC. In addition, he oversees DTCC’s Global Operations and Client Services teams.

Prior to joining DTCC in 2007 as Managing Director, Pozmanter was at Nomura Securities for 18 years, where the 
last position he held was Managing Director and Head of U.S. Operations. At Nomura, Pozmanter was responsible 
for all fixed-income, equity and derivatives operations for all U.S. subsidiaries of Nomura Holding America. Before 
joining Nomura, Pozmanter spent six years at Salomon Brothers Inc.
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He chairs the Management Resiliency Committee, and he is a member of the Treasury Market Practices Group, as 
well as SIFMA’s Funding Division Executive Committee and Operations and Technology Steering Committee. He 
has also been a member of DTCC’s Operations Advisory Committee.

Ann Shuman
Managing Director and General Counsel

Ann Shuman is Managing Director and General Counsel of DTCC, responsible for overseeing 
the company’s Legal, Compliance, Corporate Governance and Regulatory Relations functions. 
She was appointed General Counsel in February 2017 and serves as a member of DTCC’s 
Management Committee. She has extensive experience with financial services regulation, 

particularly the regulation of central counterparties.

Shuman joined DTCC in January 2014 as Managing Director and Deputy General Counsel. Prior to joining DTCC, 
she was Managing Director and Deputy General Counsel of CME Group Inc. Shuman served as a senior executive 
at CME Group for 13 years, holding positions of increasing responsibility in the legal and corporate development 
functions, in which she worked on many of the company’s significant strategic transactions.

Prior to joining CME Group, Shuman practiced law at Sidley & Austin in Chicago. She received her B.A. from Trinity 
University in 1990 and her J.D. from the University of Chicago Law School in 1996, and served as a law clerk to the 
Hon. E. Grady Jolly of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.
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A MESSAGE FROM 
SUSAN COSGROVE
Chief Financial Officer

Operating Performance
DTCC delivered another year of strong 
financial performance with net income 
of $218 million before payment of our 
preferred dividend.

This was down from $296 million in 2018 but 
consistent with our strategy to lower our clients’ fees 
while directing resources to key strategic investments 
to improve our technical and operational resilience.

Revenues in 2019 totaled $1.766 billion, down $18 million, 
or 1%, compared to the previous year, driven primarily by 
fee reductions for our clients and a rebate of $47 million 
for participants of our Systemically Important Financial 
Market Utility (SIFMU) businesses. The decision to provide 
fee reductions and a rebate reflects higher-than-expected 
revenue resulting from the extreme market volatility 
experienced in 2019 and the resulting surge in processing 

volumes. These reductions were partially offset by an increase in net investment income (loss) of $27 million on 
deferred compensation plans.

Expenses for 2019 were $56 million above the prior year as we incurred additional costs related to technology 
platforms and building key new product offerings. Excluding the mark-to-market impact on deferred 
compensation plans, expenses were up $29 million or 2% vs. 2018, including a $13 million increase in impairment 
of intangible software assets. Additionally, our effective tax rate for 2019 was approximately 18%, up from 14% in 
2018, when we realized the benefit of a favorable tax audit settlement.

Business Segment Revenue Performance
Consistent with recent history, significant market volatility drove increased volumes in 
our three SIFMUs last year, with revenues from those divisions exceeding targets and 
totaling $1.13 billion.

Year-over-year revenue in these divisions was 3% lower than 2018, primarily due to the SIFMU fee rebate 
mentioned earlier.

Likewise, our Solutions business, consisting of Institutional Trade Processing (ITP), Repository & Derivatives 
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Services (RDS) and Data Services, saw revenues 2% lower than 
2018 at $614 million, driven by consistently higher market 
volumes across products offset by price reductions offered for 
the ITP CTM and the RDS CFTC Cleared Trade services. We 
continue to see strong adoption and community build across 
this division. For instance, our Margin Transit Utility (MTU) 
now has almost 50 clients representing a diverse range of 
market participants while our solution to support compliance 
with the Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR) 
has grown to more than 160 users globally. We’re also excited 
by the industry response to our Fundamental Review of the 
Trading Book (FRTB) service and new data products we’re 
rolling out.

As part of our ongoing commitment to deliver client value, 
we continued our comprehensive review of the fee structures across our products and services in 2019. The 
initial wave of changes brought greater simplicity and predictability of pricing for clients of our clearing agency 
subsidiaries as well as rate card reductions in essentially all businesses. We intend to continue to focus on 
opportunities to align our fee structures with the value we deliver to clients and the industry.

Capital Management and Balance Sheet Resiliency
As the largest central clearing counterparty in the United States, and as a leading 
provider of post-trade infrastructure globally, DTCC views capital management as 
integral to its mission to serve our clients and safeguard the stability of the financial 
system.

A strong capital position 
provides the foundation 
for DTCC and our SIFMU 
businesses to be the most 
resilient and secure post-trade 
infrastructure globally. DTCC 
actively monitors and manages 
its capital adequacy to support 
its critical role in the financial 
markets.

All of DTCC’s regulated 
subsidiaries met their capital 
requirements in 2019 and held 
additional buffers beyond 
what is mandated. Our strong 
capital and cash positions, 
coupled with minimal leverage on our balance sheet, provide financial resilience to support our operations, 
investments and loss-absorbing capacity. DTCC and our clearing agency subsidiaries are well positioned to 
maintain their strong credit ratings and meet future capital requirements.
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Leading and Optimizing Through Innovation
One of DTCC’s top priorities is leading innovation for the industry to enhance the post-
trade process and improve the client experience.

In 2019, we continued to invest resources into use cases that employ the latest technologies, allowing our people 
to flex their creativity to explore new solutions to address our clients’ top pain points. While this work has the 
potential to transform how market infrastructures operate, we recognize the need for rigor in developing business 
cases to ensure that investments are connected to outcomes, and that the outcomes are focused on growth and 
managing risk for the industry. We remain excited about the discovery mindset of our our employees and we are 
committed to providing continued leadership on innovation for the industry.

Susan Cosgrove 
DTCC Chief Financial Officer
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MAXIMIZING YOUR INVESTMENT IN DTCC
We are committed to maximizing the value of your investment in us. With 
the support of our clients, we continue to lead the industry in standardizing, 
centralizing and automating middle- and back-office processes using our 
scale and expertise to drive down post-trade processing costs and deliver the 
resiliency, value and proficiency that support both your operations and your 
bottom line. Here’s how we brought added value for your investment in 2019.



42DTCC  |  2019 Annual Report

 
CREATING &  
ENHANCING SERVICES
 

We solve our clients’ top pain points by developing new solutions with a keen 
focus on risk management, execution, reliability and resiliency.

Revamping Repo with the Sponsored Service  
The Sponsored Service has transformed the repo marketplace over the past decade, bringing much-needed 
capacity to the market while reducing the risk of fire sales, which drive down asset prices and spread stress across 
the financial system. In 2019, we maintained our robust risk management standards and expanded the service by 
broadening the category and eligibility of who can serve as a Sponsor, which opened the door for an even greater 
percentage of the market to participate in central clearing. We finished the year with 12 live sponsors—a mix of 
both cash and collateral—and over 1,800 sponsored members. With this expansion, average daily volume grew to 
over $380 billion by year end, with a record one-day peak in December of approximately $524 billion. 

A Nighttime Ritual—Accelerating Settlement
Following the industry’s move to a T+2 settlement cycle in the US, we capitalized on this momentum in 2019 by 
completing Night Cycle Reengineering—one of our signature initiatives to further accelerate settlement times by 
optimizing current processes. By “reengineering” the settlement process—that is, considering a client’s available 
positions and optimizing the order in which transactions would be attempted for settlement, all within existing 
night cycle timeframes—we generated greater operational and capital efficiencies for our clients, improved intraday 
settlement finality, positioned our systems to support future optimization initiatives and delivered substantial savings 
in the form of lower transaction costs. Just as important, by leveraging existing technology, we avoided introducing 
expensive development and implementation projects at a time when our clients are focused on reducing costs.

Transforming the Exchange of Information
MF Info Xchange is a perfect example of how we partner with the industry to identify and automate time-
consuming manual processes to reduce risks and costs for our clients. The service, which celebrated its first 
anniversary in November 2019, enables funds to send important notifications to intermediary partners, such as 
corporate actions, service disruptions and alerts via a real-time communication platform, eliminating the flurry 
of emails, faxes and phone calls that often slowed down business and created interpretation issues. With 134 
clients already signed up for MF Info Xchange, we introduced additional event types, audit trails and an enhanced 
dashboard last year in response to client feedback to make sharing information even more convenient and simple.

Investor Kinetics: The Ace up the Quant Investor’s Sleeve 
Institutional investors’ demand to reduce the cost of trading and to find new sources of alpha generation are 
fundamental to maintaining their position and performance in an increasingly competitive market. With the 
launch of Investor Kinetics in 2019, we’re providing clients with tools that will further enhance their research and 
analytical capabilities. Culled from our Institutional Trade Processing (ITP) engines, the service puts aggregated 
and anonymized global equity and fixed income securities transaction data into the hands of quantitative 
investors, providing a unique perspective on market trends across the buy side. Offering critical model back 
testing, price and volume identification, investor type trending and more, Investor Kinetics meets the demand for 
new sources of alpha generation and risk modeling support.

https://www.dtcc.com/clearing-services/ficc-gov/sponsored-membership
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/april/01/ficc-is-transforming-the-repo-market
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/april/02/settlement-optimization-update-night-cycle-reengineering
https://www.dtcc.com/wealth-management-services/mutual-fund-services/mf-info-xchange
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2019/december/10/dtccs-mf-info-xchange-launches-capabilities-as-user-base-grows-to-134-clients
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2019/december/10/dtccs-mf-info-xchange-launches-capabilities-as-user-base-grows-to-134-clients
https://www.dtcc.com/data-services/liquidity-and-benchmark-analytics/investor-kinetics
https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing
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Making Exceptional Progress
DTCC Exception Manager experienced significant volume growth in 2019, handling more than 2 million records 
related to 849,556 transactions, trades or exceptions, representing over $100 billion in market activity. As 
the community of users continues to expand, we integrated chat functionality from the Taskize platform into 
Exception Manager last year, giving firms the ability to seamlessly communicate exception information and 
collaborate with their counterparties to support faster issue resolution. In recognition of the positive impact 
Exception Manager has had in resolving trade exceptions, the service was honored with a 2019 Market’s Choice 
Award for “Best New Product.” The service is expected to draw even greater interest from the industry in the 
coming years as new rules, such as the Central Securities Depositories Regulation (CSDR), require firms to reduce 
trade failures or face financial penalties.

 
Creating Industry 
Efficiencies
 

We tackle some of the biggest operational challenges facing the industry 
today and increase efficiencies.

The World of Derivatives: Reporting Across Borders

2019 was a year of expansion and enhancements to our Global Trade Repository (GTR) service. In Switzerland, 
we attained recognition as a Foreign Trade Repository, allowing us to support derivatives reporting under the 
Swiss Financial Markets Infrastructure Act (FMIA), also known as FinfraG. In addition, we unveiled a new portal 
for clients in the APAC region to make it easier for them to access their data—an important initiative that aligned 
with the expansion of new reporting requirements to buy-side firms by the Monetary Authority of Singapore 
(MAS). And in Europe, we navigated the political waters of Brexit, making sure firms would be able to meet their 
derivatives reporting mandates in the EU and UK.

Building Our MTU Community 
With the continued rollout of uncleared margin rules globally, our community of users on the Margin Transit Utility 
(MTU) grew to nearly 50 firms connected to the platform including the leading dealers, investment managers, 
administrators and custodian firms. This demonstrates our solution to automate margin settlement is filling a 
critical client need as the evolving regulatory landscape continues to impact the industry. Our decision to integrate 
MTU into our Institutional Trade Processing (ITP) business will help us deliver a more streamlined process for 
clients in the coming years by providing firms with more holistic settlement management support across multiple 
asset classes.

 
ITP: Going for Gold
Our Institutional Trade Processing (ITP) business issued a white paper, Re-Imagining Post-Trade: No-Touch 
Processing Within Reach, outlining our vision for an open, post-trade infrastructure that eliminates many 
redundancies and reduces manual processing across asset classes from post execution to settlement finality, 
centralizes golden source data and provides the ability to materially reduce failure rates. To realize this vision, 
we announced plans to decommission the OASYS platform in 2021, setting a new path for a more seamless, 

https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/dtcc-exception-manager
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/may/13/dtccs-itp-exception-manager-solution-wins-2019-markets-choice-award-for-best-new-product
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/may/13/dtccs-itp-exception-manager-solution-wins-2019-markets-choice-award-for-best-new-product
http://www.dtcc.com/csdr
https://www.dtcc.com/repository-and-derivatives-services/repository-services
https://www.dtcc.com/news/2019/january/08/dtcc-receives-regulatory-approval-to-provide-derivatives-trade-reporting-services-in-switzerland
https://www.dtcc.com/rds-info-hub/gtr-20-portal
https://www.dtcc.com/brexit/dtccs-efforts-to-monitor-and-respond-to-brexit
https://www.dtcc.com/collateral-management/dtcc-euroclear-global-collateral-ltd/margin-transit-utility
https://www.dtcc.com/collateral-management/dtcc-euroclear-global-collateral-ltd/margin-transit-utility
https://communications.dtcc.com/Re-ImaginingPost-Trade_Registration_LP3725A1LA1.html
https://communications.dtcc.com/Re-ImaginingPost-Trade_Registration_LP3725A1LA1.html
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automated trade matching and confirmation platform. As a result, clients will experience an improved central 
matching workflow, more robust settlement notification functionality and an increased ability to leverage ALERT 
enrichment. To further enable and encourage the movement of US volume, ITP achieved functional parity and 
harmonized pricing between OASYS and CTM.

SSI: Breaking Down Barriers
We took aim at overly long settlement cycles and trade fails caused by missing or inaccurate standing settlement 
instructions (SSIs) with the launch of a new smart enrichment capability called ALERT Key Auto Select (AKAS) last 
year. This service leverages a combination of Securities Market Practice Group rules-based logic and client-driven 
security profiles, enabling firms to agree to leverage ALERT’s SSIs and identify place of settlement for a trade 
automatically, thereby reducing or eliminating manual touch points and trade exceptions. The result is a no-touch 
process that locks in preferred place of settlement on trade date.

SSI: Paving the Way Forward
A variety of challenges with standing settlement instructions (SSIs), including human error due to manual 
processes, contribute to the high number of trade exceptions and fails. Solving this problem requires automating 
the input and maintenance of SSI data and creating an optimal custodian-managed workflow—an initiative we’re 
advancing by leveraging the DTCC ALERT platform. We shared our approach with the industry last year, A 
Roadmap to Automation, which showcased how automation via a centralized SSI utility will unlock increased cost 
savings, data quality and timeliness for the industry.

Delivering Greater Value to Clients
On the heels of implementing a new pricing strategy for our SIFMU businesses (DTC, FICC and NSCC) in 2018, we 
set our sights last year on delivering similar benefits to clients of Repository & Derivatives Services, Institutional 
Trade Processing and Data Services. The result is a simplified, value-based fee structure that increases 
transparency, reduces complexity and promotes industry efficiency. Looking forward, we intend to use this same 
approach when pricing our newest offerings, including our service to support Securities Financing Transactions 
Regulation (SFTR) and our new Report Hub.  

Advancing Transformative  
Technologies
 

We continue to lead the digital transformation of post-trade processing by 
exploring how new technologies like DLT, cloud computing, robotics process 
automation and applied machine learning can help reduce risks and costs and 
increase efficiencies.

Leading the Fintech Wave
While the fintech revolution continues accelerating the pace of change, we’re keeping ahead of the innovation 
curve by helping to define the critical building blocks to usher in this digital transformation. For instance, last year 
we outlined function-based guiding principles for the post-trade processing of tokenized securities and also kicked 
off a global dialogue on the need for a robust governance model to support the development and implementation 

https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/alert
https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/oasys
https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/central-trade-manager
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/january/15/towards-no-touch-post-trade-workflow
https://www.dtcc.com/institutional-trade-processing/itp/alert
https://communications.dtcc.com/SSI-Roadmap-Registration-LP2391A1LA1.html?utm_source=website&utm_medium=Right_rail_promo&utm_campaign=A_Roadmap_to_SSI_Automation
https://communications.dtcc.com/SSI-Roadmap-Registration-LP2391A1LA1.html?utm_source=website&utm_medium=Right_rail_promo&utm_campaign=A_Roadmap_to_SSI_Automation
http://simplified, value-based fee structure
https://perspectives.dtcc.com/articles/guiding-principles-for-the-post-trade-processing-of-tokenized-securities
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of distributed ledger solutions. We also brought together some of the industry’s leading experts on fintech for our 
annual conference on the intersection of technology and post-trade processing. 

Get Your APIs Here
In the on-demand, personalized service age of Netflix, Hulu and Amazon, we completed development and testing 
of our new application programming interface, or API, Marketplace, last year, setting the stage for its public launch 
in early 2020. As one of the first market infrastructures to make APIs available via an online app store, we’re giving 
our clients, partners and internal developers direct programmatic access to our products and services via a single, 
central location and enabling them to create proprietary products and services that can be used when they want 
them, how they want them and in a way that best meets their individual needs. 

Finding the Signal in the Noise of Data
For all the promise of Big Data, many firms continue to struggle to turn the massive stores of information they 
hold into actionable intelligence. The problem is particularly acute among insurance carriers and dealers as these 
massive data sets have become unwieldy, totaling over 14.5 million policy records processed daily last year. In 
2019, we set out to solve this challenge by launching development work on Insurance Information Exchange (IIEX), 
a new platform that will help our clients support the sourcing and consumption of insurance data, on demand, built 
on the cloud and using client-facing APIs. Release One is scheduled to go live in 2020.

 
Regulatory Advocacy 
& Compliance
 

We are your advocate and make it a priority to ensure your voice is heard and 
understood among regulatory decision makers.

Calming the Storm of SFTR
With Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR) creating a perfect storm of data and operational 
challenges for banks and asset managers engaged in repo trading, securities lending and the reuse of collateral, 
we’ve extended our Global Trade Repository (GTR) service functionality to enable firms to meet these new 
obligations in the United Kingdom (UK) and European Union (EU). In anticipation of the regulation going live in 
2020, our focus has been on onboarding and conducting user testing for more than 160 clients, which represents a 
significant percentage of the trading volume in this market. 

A Helping Hand With Trade Reporting
As many firms struggle to meet new reporting requirements for securities finance transactions, we began 
building DTCC Report Hub last year to transform, enrich and reconcile data to meet the stringent eligibility, 
accuracy and quality criteria established by regulators. The service, expected to be launched to coincide with the 
implementation of SFTR in 2020, is being built using a flexible architecture so clients can configure its capabilities 
to meet their unique needs. When used in combination with our European Global Trade Repository (GTR) service, 
provided by DTCC Derivatives Reporting Plc, or DDRL, it will allow clients to manage their obligations under SFTR 
through a single DTCC client portal. In the coming years, we’re planning to expand functionality to cover additional 
asset classes and convert data into jurisdictional standards to facilitate client trade reporting to additional DTCC 
trade repositories.

https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2019/may/01/dtcc-fintech-2019-transforming-infrastructure-in-a-digital-world
https://developer.dtcc.com/apimarketplace/
https://developer.dtcc.com/apimarketplace/
https://www.dtcc.com/regulatory-compliance/sftr
https://www.dtcc.com/repository-and-derivatives-services/repository-services
https://www.dtcc.com/dtcc-connection/articles/2018/september/13/navigating-the-sftr-landscape
https://www.dtcc.com/repository-and-derivatives-services/rds-plus/dtcc-report-hub
https://www.dtcc.com/regulatory-compliance/sftr
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FRTB: Staying Ahead of the Curve
Although the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s FRTB (Fundamental Review of the Trading Book) 
regulation was postponed until 2023, we saw high demand for data that could help global banks perform early 
RFETs (risk factor eligibility tests) to assist in complying with the mandated “real” price requirements for risk 
factors used in internal risk models. The launch of DTCC’s FRTB Service pilot in 2019 was the culmination 
of months of close collaboration with the global banking community to help guide DTCC’s efforts to define, 
develop and deploy the new service. The pilot provided banks with advanced access to the largest and most 
comprehensive pool of real-price observation data that can be used to support FRTB compliance strategies.

 
Strengthening  
Risk Management
 

We protect our clients, the industry and the global financial system by 
mitigating market, credit, operating, liquidity and counterparty risk.

Charting a New Course with SFTs
Leveraging our expertise in clearing and risk management, last year we began work to provide the market 
with a cleared stock loan service, creating a new model for central clearing of equities lending and borrowing 
transactions. Over the course of 2019, we formulated requirements and began initial development. By creating a 
central clearing solution for equities securities financing transactions (SFTs), we aim to maximize capital efficiency 
and mitigate systemic risk by introducing more membership and cleared transaction opportunities for market 
participants. Development will continue through 2020, with the new serviceexpected to launch in early 2021, 
pending regulatory approval.

A Focus on Resilience: How We’re Safeguarding Our Services  
Witnessing the increased threats posed by cyberattack, the adoption of new technologies and the 
interconnectedness of the financial ecosystem, we issued an industry-wide call in 2019 to establish business 
resilience as a global priority. We defined our vision in a new white paper, Resilience First, which advocated for 
a holistic approach to resilience driven by business ownership and industry-wide collaboration. In addition, we 
recommended a set of core principles and supporting guidelines that can advance resilience efforts and safeguard 
critical business services against a wide range of technical, physical, logistical or financial disruptions. 

EDM: When Data Intelligence Gets Smarter
Data intelligence continues to be a critical component to any firm’s success, and our Enterprise Data Management 
(EDM) practices are now widely recognized throughout the industry as an essential foundation for modernizing 
infrastructure and adopting advanced technologies, including machine learning and artificial intelligence. Last 
year we completed a three-year strategy roadmap aimed at modernizing our platforms, applying industry best 
practices in data governance, data quality and metadata management to the most critical data used in aggregating 
risk exposures for our three SIFMU businesses (DTC, FICC and NSCC), setting the foundation to create a 
sustainable, resilient, secure and simplified data architecture. 

https://www.dtcc.com/data-services/risk-and-regulatory-compliance/frtb-service
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Delivering Innovative Solutions to Navigate Risk
We delivered powerful new tools for our clients to more efficiently analyze and manage risk and liquidity across 
functions and activities with the launch of enhanced functionality for our Risk Management as a Service (RMaaS) 
solution last year. The beta version of DTC Settlement Insights, along with the NSCC Clearing Fund Requirement 
Service, NSCC Mark to Market Portfolio Service, NSCC VaR Portfolio Service and VaR Calculator are enabling 
firms to gain deeper insights into their current and historical unsettled positions and mitigate risks within their 
organizations.
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What connects all the innovative work occurring across DTCC? Our clients. 
They sit at the center of everything we do. As we advance initiatives to 
safeguard the financial system and transform the post-trade infrastructure, 
we’re collaborating with our clients and industry colleagues to reimagine the 
role of market infrastructures and broaden their impact on the industry.

WHEN MACHINES TALK:  
REIMAGINING BUSINESS WITH APIs
Innovation that helps your technology speak to ours is transforming financial 
services. APIs are the building blocks of this digital transformation, and they are 
quickly changing the way we do business. Today we’re partnering with our clients to 
build new products they can use their way, when and how they want them.

TAILORED SOLUTIONS: ONE SIZE DOES NOT FIT ALL
You say you want an evolution? Technology is moving fast and providing 
extraordinary opportunities, but how we get there is a critical part of the journey. 
We’re exploring legacy systems, embracing new service models and creating 
modern, flexible and digital infrastructure. Our goal: To modernize and customize 
technology to deliver the highest value to our clients.

SPELLING CLIENT SERVICES WITH THREE “R”s
Our industry is often about math, but occasionally we need to step out of that box 
and explore words like Reusability, Reimagination and Resilience. These three “R”s 
are key to streamlining operations and infrastructure as well as reimagining ways 
to enhance efficiencies and reduce complexity to create a more agile and resilient 
model for trade processing.

DRIVING THE RESILIENCE CONVERSATION
It’s not enough to talk about resilience: you have to make it happen. And the 
challenges continue to grow as cybercriminals attack our digital walls and the 
threat of wide-scale technology disruptions become a question of “when” not “if.” 
We’re working with clients and regulators to create a holistic approach to building 
operational resilience and protecting critical business services.
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REAL-TIME, ALL THE TIME IN THE FINTECH EVOLUTION
Just a few years ago, client-empowered finance and fintech meant online banking 
and ATMs. Now, few people are waiting for checks to clear, and the idea that 
projects must be all-encompassing and comprehensive is nearly extinct. We’re 
listening to clients and testing with rapid prototypes. We’re exploring distributed 
ledgers, artificial intelligence, cloud and machine learning to see where they will 
take our industry. We’re certain the future will look very different than today.

ALWAYS AT YOUR SERVICE
Our clients are at the center of everything we do and our refreshed brand, 
“Advancing Financial Markets. Together,” perfectly captures how we see our 
mission. It’s not enough to try to help. Our clients need us to provide end-to-end 
solutions to improve efficiency, reduce costs and minimize risk. That means we 
must create integrated solutions that address client issues today and help them 
grow in the future.

Watch videos at https://www.dtcc.com/annuals/2019/advancing-financial-markets
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DIVERSITY & INCLUSION
At DTCC, we define diversity as the qualities that make each of us unique–the distinctive experiences and 
worldviews that inspire creativity and spark innovation. We define inclusion as integrating these qualities into all 
aspects of our company culture to enable our business and people to grow, evolve and succeed. We’re proud to 
introduce you to members of our team who want to share their stories about how DTCC’s diversity and inclusion 
(D&I) efforts are making a positive impact on them, their careers and our company.

BUILDING COMMUNITIES
• Strategic sponsorships and partnerships

• Thought leadership

• Community impact through corporate social responsibility (CSR) efforts

STRENGTHENING INCLUSION
• Employee Resource Groups

• Voices of Inclusion series

• D&I initiatives and events

• Workplace policies, practices and accommodations

ADVANCING TALENT
• Sustained growth of diverse talent

• Formal executive sponsorship and accountability

• Transparency of career progression process

• Targeted trainings for management

• Metrics tracking and reporting

DIVERSIFYING WORKFORCE
• Develop a robust pipeline of top diverse candidates, embed diversity in talent acquisition

• Expand DTCC brand

• Refine current sourcing and recruiting practices

• Strategic workforce planning
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OUR PEOPLE. OUR COMMUNITY.
Creating a diverse and inclusive work environment is important to all of us at 
DTCC, starting with our CEO. We work hard to continually embed D&I into 
DTCC’s culture, fostering an environment where all employees are valued and 
respected and feel that they can play an active part in the company’s success.

EMPLOYEE RESOURCE GROUPS
ADRIENNE DURING
DTCC Jersey City 
Director, AML & Sanctions Compliance

Part of my responsibility as a person of color 
and a leader in the organization is to make sure 
that the people who follow in my footsteps 
have the resources to succeed.

One of my passions in life is sharing my culture, celebrating 
what makes each of us unique and creating learning 
opportunities for people of different backgrounds. That’s 
why I joined the Black Organizers and Leaders of DTCC 
(BOLD) employee resource group shortly after I arrived at 
DTCC in 2012. Today, I am proud to serve as the global co-
chair of this group.

BOLD is a forum that provides professional development resources for our members and allies, and helps promote 
a culture of inclusivity at the firm. The group offers insight into the black cultural experience at DTCC and builds 
greater awareness and community through keynote speakers, cultural events and giving back to the community.

I’m passionate about this mission because, when I was a student at Cornell University and during my years 
practicing law, I oftentimes found myself in the position of being the only black woman in the room. Because this is 
part of my everyday experience, I’ve gotten used to it, but I made a pledge to myself long ago that I’d do everything 
in my power to support the next generation of diverse leaders.

BOLD allows me to fulfill this personal commitment. It also is a great way to serve as a mentor to provide guidance 
to my colleagues looking to advance in the organization.  In fact, one of the most successful events we’ve hosted 
is our black executive networking event, which gave our members access to meet with black executives across 
the firm. Through those conversations, and more, we get to hear about how these leaders rose to such prominent 
positions. It’s very powerful to spend time with someone who comes from similar cultural background and can 
relate to your personal experience.

Being part of the BOLD ERG has given me a better understanding of our organization and ways to use my 
leadership skills to help others. I take great pride knowing that I’m making a difference for the next generation of 
diverse female executives.
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RECOGNITION
JYOTHI LAKASHMINARAYANAN
DTCC Chennai 
Director, Service Management Metrics and Availability 
Management

When DTCC is recognized by organizations 
like Forbes and the Human Rights Campaign 
Foundation for our commitment to diversity 
and inclusion, it reinforces what makes this 
company so special.

One of the things that distinguishes DTCC is the importance 
the organization places on its employees. This is evident in 
the respectful and collaborative relationships we build with 
our colleagues, in the emphasis on career development and in the commitment to supporting the diverse needs 
of our people. For me, the ability to take advantage of flexible work arrangements allows me to balance my work 
responsibilities with my family and personal obligations.

Because I’m not forced to choose between my career and my family, I can complete assignments or hold meetings 
with my co-workers in the evening after I’ve had a chance to spend quality time with my daughter.  She is in the 
10th grade and facing board exams. Because of this arrangement, I have been able to provide moral support to her 
during these challenging times. I can drop her to school and be back at home around 5pm to support her for her 
next exam.

But the flexibility extends beyond just the big events in my family’s lives. Most nights, we have the opportunity 
to enjoy dinner together or I can tuck my daughter into bed before turning my full attention to my work. This 
arrangement allows me to be a mom at home and a leader at work–and it’s why I’m able to deliver the very best for 
DTCC and our clients. I’m confident that I’m able to give 100 percent of myself to my work and my family without 
having to sacrifice one for the other.

DTCC is my ideal workplace because it genuinely cares about its employees. That’s why I’m not surprised when we 
win awards, such as Forbes Best Places to Work, Forbes Best Place to Work for Diversity and the Human Rights 
Campaign Foundation Best Place to Work for LBTQ Equality. I see those values every day of the week, and it’s why 
I’m so proud to be an employee of DTCC.
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ADVANCING WOMEN LEADERS
MIGLENA LAZAROVA
DTCC London 
Director, GTR Client Services, DTCC Solutions

This program is designed to unleash the 
potential of women leaders. It’s already 
made a difference by helping me identify my 
development areas and create a tailored action 
plan.

Many companies talk about the importance of developing 
women leaders, but DTCC’s Advancing Women Leaders 
(AWL) program is proof of how to do it right. I’m one of 16 
women participating in the two-year career development 
program, and it has been one of the most empowering experiences of my professional life.

One of the best parts of AWL is that we test theory in practice and learn from experience. As a group we created 
a supportive and collaborative atmosphere. We act as advisors, friends and advocates to help each other develop 
and succeed. We are also responsible for key deliverables aimed at helping women reach their potential at DTCC.

In addition, we’re assigned an executive coach, who works with us to create a leadership vision and career plan 
tailored to our individual needs, along with an executive sponsor, who helps us build our internal networks and 
provide organizational exposure. For many of us, this is the first time we’ve had a formal program for personal 
development. Through these and other initiatives, we’ve had the opportunity to meet with senior management 
and key internal stakeholders, as well as take on different assignments. Last year, for instance, I was asked to 
deliver closing remarks at an event featuring female members of our Board of Directors. While that was an 
experience I’ll never forget, meeting with our Board members later that evening, gave me insight into their own 
career journeys and great advice about how I could blaze my own trail in the future.

What I’ve learned more than anything else in the program is that I need to be authentic and show my colleagues 
exactly who I am. It’s been incredibly empowering personally and professionally. And I have DTCC and the AWL to 
thank for that.



56DTCC  |  2019 Annual Report

MARC TRAINING PROGRAM
MARK VERCRUYSSE 
DTCC Jersey City 
Managing Director, Head of Global Relationship 
Management, Sales and Solution Delivery 

People often fall back into their preconceived 
biases. It’s hard to stop that kind of thinking, 
but you have to force yourself to do it.

Sometimes two people can look at the same thing and 
see it very differently. That was a lesson I learned when I 
participated in DTCC’s Men Advocating for Real Change 
(MARC) Leaders Workshop, a program designed to help 
create an inclusive workplace and teach the importance of 
becoming strong advocates, sponsors and allies.

This was the first training of the sort that I’ve had, and I can honestly say that it’s truly changed the way I look at 
things. During the workshop, about 30 colleagues and I–both men and women–participated in a series of exercises 
about gender and racial awareness. While I thought I already knew a lot about my co-workers, I quickly realized 
there were many sides to them that I had never seen. What I learned is that it’s one thing to be taught by workshop 
leaders, but another to hear directly from your colleagues and to be challenged by their different points of view 
and experiences.

For example, we held a frank conversation about the way African-American parents teach their children how to 
interact with police. As a white male, I’ve never had much of a reason to think about this in detail. When my boys 
were young, I simply told them to be respectful and courteous to law enforcement. The experience of some of 
my co-workers, however, was very different. They had to stress to their kids to always keep their hands visible on 
the steering wheel or to avoid making sudden movements. Listening to their stories, I began to understand their 
concerns and why they felt the need to do this.

This was just one of many times during the workshop that I had to confront my own lack of awareness or 
preconceived biases. It was difficult and uncomfortable, but the experience was eye-opening. And it taught me the 
valuable lesson of questioning my own biases by asking myself, “If I was a person of color, how would I react in this 
situation?”

After the workshop, I began to apply the lessons I learned by rethinking my approach to recruiting talent. Because 
most people tend to associate with others who are like them, we often take too narrow a view of candidates when 
hiring new employees. So instead of focusing solely on subject matter expertise in the future, I’m now committed 
to finding people with diverse viewpoints or untapped potential. Our long-term success as a company requires us 
to hire the best and brightest, but how I define that moving forward will be different than in the past. And I have no 
doubt I’ll build an even stronger team because of it.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Our employees have tremendous passion and capacity to contribute to 
growing the prosperity and well-being of our communities. That same 
commitment is evident when it comes to delivering on our Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) pledges. Making a positive difference in the communities 
where we live and work is as enriching to us as it is to the tens of thousands 
of people we help each year. Hear from our employees who are sharing their 
stories about how DTCC’s CSR activities are making the world a better place.
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EXPANDING ACCESS TO STEM EDUCATION
MIECHELLE KRUEGER
DTCC Dallas 
Director, Data Quality Enterprise Data Solutions 
IT Risk & Data Services

Even if that young girl doesn’t become a 
developer, she’s learning the programming 
techniques and problem-solving skills that will 
help her the rest of her life.

What kid hasn’t dreamed of having a robot do their 
schoolwork?

That’s exactly the question I asked recently when I joined a 
group of volunteers from DTCC Dallas to teach programming 
skills, and robotics, to third graders at Rockbrook Elementary School in nearby Lewisville, Texas. The idea grew 
out of a course launched by DTCC’s Innovation Clubs to teach the basics of programming across our different 
departments using Ozobot robots. That initiative proved so successful that we were inspired to bring it to students 
in our local community.

Our goal was to demystify programming by making it fun for third graders and to motivate them, particularly the 
young girls, to think about exploring STEM subjects as they get older. We started with an introductory lesson 
and then programmed the robots to solve problems in their math class. The students were jumping around and 
cheering every time the robot moved across the floor to find the correct answers. They were having so much fun 
that they didn’t even realize they were learning about programming and making decisions about the correct codes 
needed to tell the robots to go right, left and straight.

I was amazed to see the students so engaged. They read and solved 
the math problems because they wanted to play with the robots. And 
the teachers were as excited as the kids. In fact, the faculty was so 
thankful that about 25 of us returned to the school to use the robots 
for a reading comprehension lesson. Over the course of just eight 
months, we made four trips and reached about 125 students.

Working with third graders is magical because they believe they can do 
anything. I’m hoping that our robot lessons will light a fire for problem 
solving, which is what drives all developers. I can’t wait to get back to 
the school again and continue to share my passion for technology with 
the kids. Every time I go there, I’m reminded how lucky I am to have 
this opportunity to inspire so many young people and teach them that 
STEM is for everyone.
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INCREASING ECONOMIC STABILITY & 
INCLUSION
RAQUEL CAPINPIN
DTCC Manila 
Executive Director, Client Operations, and DTCC Manila 
Site Lead

Santa Rosa Elementary School Central is a large green and 
yellow two-story building located in the heart of Santa Rosa, 
Laguna in Manila. At first sight, it doesn’t look like a place of 
learning, but there’s no mistaking the buzz of young people 
as you approach the courtyard. The school has come a long 
way since it opened nearly 40 years ago, growing to more 
than 2,500 students and 52 teachers, but over time parts of 
the campus have begun to show their age. So when Brigada 
Eskwela (School Brigade), or National Schools Maintenance 
Week, was approaching, my colleagues and I knew exactly where we would volunteer our time.

More than 140 local DTCC employees dedicated about 2,000 hours over the course of two days to painting 
classrooms, fixing the gardens and making repairs to improve the building and other locations in preparation for 
the upcoming school year.

While this was hard work, which became even more challenging as the bright sun and humidity began to blanket 
us in the late morning, we seemed to gain energy. By the time we were done, our clothing was filthy, we were 
soaked with sweat and more tired than we had felt in years, but we were all overwhelmed with joy. The smiles 
from the teachers and students eased our sore backs and legs and reminded us of our own good fortune and the 
importance of giving back to others.

Brigada Eskwela was just one of many CSR successes for us last year. 
As Manila’s site lead, I am deeply involved in helping to organize how 
we support the local community. With so many good causes to choose 
from, we want to identify opportunities to showcase our employees’ 
creativity and leadership expertise and make the biggest impact on 
the largest number of people. That’s why we also dedicated time 
to initiatives that empower visually impaired individuals through 
livelihood assistance, support tree planting programs and participate 
in blood drives.  I know our team can’t wait to continue giving back 
even more in 2020.
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PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTAL 
CONSERVATION & STABILITY
NICK DALESANDRO
DTCC Tampa 
Director, Workplace Design & Services

We never stop looking for new opportunities to 
promote sustainability. It’s part of our DNA.

As a member of the Workplace Design & Services team, I’ve 
dedicated my career to environmental sustainability. For 
me, protecting the environment is more than a slogan: it’s 
the single most important thing I think about every day. At 
DTCC, I’m fortunate to work for a company that recognizes 
its responsibility to the planet and is committed to taking 
meaningful steps to reduce our energy footprint. When you 
consider that energy consumption contributes to nearly 60% of the world’s greenhouse gas emissions, it’s easy to 
see why this is a priority for us.

Through our programs to monitor energy usage, we saved 4.5 million kilowatts compared to our 2016 baseline 
year, which is equal to eliminating carbon dioxide emissions from 3.5 million pounds of coal. And I’m proud to be 
part of the team that’s upgrading to LED lighting and reducing electricity usage, including the installation of a new 
building management system globally that gives us real-time insight into our energy consumption.

In 2019, we moved the needle even more when we 
discovered new ways to improve our heating, cooling 
and ventilation practices. Looking at how some of those 
oversized systems were operating, it was like watching 
someone trying to drive a car with one foot on the gas 
pedal and another on the brake. They worked, just not very 
well.  More specifically, we’ve implemented automation 
that determines the most efficient operating point of our 
equipment and stages on/off equipment as loads increase/
decrease. Additionally, we’ve incorporated real-time metrics 
in our monitoring system that alerts us if systems start to 
operate outside of the ideal efficiency zone.

This was a big initiative with significant benefits, but our 
focus isn’t only on large systems. We’re just as committed to 
making small differences because, over time, they add up. 
For instance, I always remind my colleagues to adopt more 
sustainable habits. “Turn off your lamp, use the stairs instead 
of elevators”–I must say that ten times a day. However, 
if each of us took actions like that, the impact would be 
significant.
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AS WE CLOSE THE CHAPTER  
ON 2019, WE WANT TO THANK YOU 

FOR YOUR SUPPORT.
2020 will bring its own challenges, opportunities and surprises,  
but just like we’ve done for more than 45 years, we are excited 

to continue partnering with our clients and the industry 
to reimagine the future of post-trade together.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of 
The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Depository Trust & Clearing 
Corporation and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial 
condition as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of income, 
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such 
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation and its subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  
 
 
 

 
March 27, 2020 

Deloitte & Touche LLP 
30 Rockefeller Plaza 
New York, NY 10112-0015 
USA  

Tel:   (212) 492-4000 
Fax:  (212) 489-1687 
www.deloitte.com 
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THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

As of December 31,
(In thousands, except share data) 2019 2018
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,395,163 $ 8,641,036
Participants' segregated cash 4,876 77,988
Short-term investments 900,000 800,000
Accounts receivable - net of allowance for doubtful accounts 177,219 177,880
Participants' and Clearing Funds 40,814,905 36,622,122
Other Participants' assets 514,104 518,115
Other current assets 177,940 133,960

Total current assets 50,984,207 46,971,101

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Premises and equipment - net of accumulated depreciation 216,417 213,111
Goodwill 57,699 57,699
Intangible assets - net of accumulated amortization 325,125 319,119
Equity method investments 10,676 10,491
Operating lease right-of-use-asset 237,689 —
Other non-current assets 304,719 319,579

Total non-current assets 1,152,325 919,999
TOTAL ASSETS $ 52,136,532 $ 47,891,100

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Commercial paper - net of unamortized discount $ 7,154,217 $ 7,436,141
Current portion of long-term debt 4,103 2,650
Current portion of pension and postretirement benefits 34,270 16,608
Current portion of operating lease liability 25,906 —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 102,179 104,013
Participants' and Clearing Funds 40,814,905 36,622,122
Payable to Participants 518,980 596,103
Other current liabilities 266,160 260,677

Total current liabilities 48,920,720 45,038,314

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Non-current portion of long-term debt 3,921 33,725
Non-current portion of pension and postretirement benefits 178,384 198,492
Non-current operating lease liability 264,848 —
Other non-current liabilities 263,681 288,334
Total non-current liabilities 710,834 520,551

Total liabilities 49,631,554 45,558,865

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 2)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock:

Series A, $0.50 par value - 10,000 shares authorized, issued (above par), and outstanding 300 300
Series B, $0.50 par value - 10,000 shares authorized, issued (above par), and outstanding 300 300
Series C, $0.50 par value - 1,600 shares authorized, issued (above par), and outstanding 390,516 390,516

Common stock, $100 par value - 80,000 shares authorized, 50,908 shares issued and outstanding 5,091 5,091
Additional paid-in capital 411,065 411,065
Retained earnings 1,769,638 1,571,298
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (221,932) (196,335)
Non-controlling interests 150,000 150,000

Total shareholders' equity 2,504,978 2,332,235
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 52,136,532 $ 47,891,100

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the years ended, December 31,
(In thousands) 2019 2018

REVENUES
Settlement and asset services $ 448,796 $ 458,973
Clearing services 587,003 604,628
Matching and data services 273,836 275,979
Repository and derivatives services 290,161 292,980
Wealth management services 103,721 112,133
Other services 40,384 44,481
Investment income (loss), net 22,290 (4,806)

Total revenues 1,766,191 1,784,368

EXPENSES
Employee compensation and related benefits 733,025 664,068
Information technology 176,348 161,863
Professional and other services 335,180 369,477
Occupancy 48,010 48,180
Depreciation and amortization 143,338 159,528
General and administrative 54,028 43,723
Impairment of Intangible assets 21,468 8,588

Total expenses 1,511,397 1,455,427
Total operating income 254,794 328,941

NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest income 557,551 460,017
Refunds to Participants (367,073) (326,017)
Interest expense (216,361) (148,390)
Net income (loss) from Equity method investments 404 (10,423)
Other non-operating income, net 39,012 42,709

Total non-operating income 13,533 17,896

Income before taxes 268,327 346,837

Provision for income taxes 47,847 47,124

Net income 220,480 299,713

Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 2,640 3,900

Net income attributable to DTCC $ 217,840 $ 295,813

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2019 2018

Net income $ 220,480 $ 299,713

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) - Net of tax:

Defined benefit pension and other plans (1) (27,286) 33,129
Foreign currency translation 1,689 (6,434)

Other comprehensive (loss) income (25,597) 26,695

Comprehensive income 194,883 326,408

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 2,640 3,900

Comprehensive income attributable to DTCC $ 192,243 $ 322,508

(1) Amounts are net of benefit for income taxes of $10,508 and provision for income taxes of $12,797 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income (Loss),

Net of Tax

Additional Defined Benefit Foreign Non- Total

Preferred Stock  Common  Paid-In  Retained Pension and Currency controlling Shareholders'

(In thousands) Series A Series B Series C  Stock  Capital  Earnings Other Plans Translation Interests Equity

BALANCE - January 1, 2018 $ 300 $ 300 $ 390,516 $ 5,091 $ 411,065 $ 1,261,309 $ (188,925) $ (429) $ 148,440 $ 2,027,667
Adjustment for accounting change(1) — — — — — 33,676 (33,676) — — —

Net income — — — — — 295,813 — — 3,900 299,713

Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — — 33,129 (6,434) — 26,695

Dividend to non-controlling interest — — — — — — — — (2,340) (2,340)

Dividends on preferred stock — — — — — (19,500) — — — (19,500)

BALANCE - December 31, 2018 300 300 390,516 5,091 411,065 1,571,298 (189,472) (6,863) 150,000 2,332,235

Net income — — — — — 217,840 — — 2,640 220,480

Other comprehensive (loss) income — — — — — — (27,286) 1,689 — (25,597)

Dividend to non-controlling interest — — — — — — — — (2,640) (2,640)

Dividends on preferred stock — — — — — (19,500) — — — (19,500)

BALANCE - December 31, 2019 $ 300 $ 300 $ 390,516 $ 5,091 $ 411,065 $ 1,769,638 $ (216,758) $ (5,174) $ 150,000 $ 2,504,978

(1)  The adjustment relates to the adoption of an accounting update during the prior year.

The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31,
(In thousands) 2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 220,480 $ 299,713

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 143,338 159,528
Loss on impairment of Intangible assets 21,468 8,588
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of Premises and equipment and Intangible assets 2,798 (1,769)
Net (income)/loss from Equity method investments (404) 10,423
Deferred income taxes 12,170 42,260
Discount on Commercial paper outstanding 11,774 24,854
Other 25,459 (6,432)
Net change in:

Accounts receivable 220 (7,490)
Other Participants' assets 450 5,529
Other assets (40,957) (31,367)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,664 (13,590)
Pension and postretirement benefits (29,732) (64,316)
Operating lease liability (25,006) —
Other liabilities 19,208 (74,658)
Participants' and Clearing Funds liabilities 1,098,814 1,995,148
Payable to Participants (77,123) (292,053)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,395,621 2,054,368

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of Short-term investments (2,100,000) (800,000)
Maturities of Short-term investments 2,000,000 —
Maturities of Investments in marketable securities — 83,600
Purchases of Investments in marketable securities — (58,600)
Purchases of Premises and equipment (53,859) (36,706)
Capitalized software development costs (108,588) (93,215)
Investment in Equity method investments — (11,000)
Purchase of equity investments (500) (1,104)

Net cash used in investing activities (262,947) (917,025)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from Commercial paper 29,534,455 41,659,738
Repayments of Commercial paper (29,828,153) (37,471,022)
Repayments on long-term debt and other borrowings (42,779) (4,237)
Preferred stock dividend payments (19,500) (19,500)
Payment to Non-controlling interests (2,340) (1,080)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (358,317) 4,163,899

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on Cash and cash equivalents 1,911 (1,900)

Net increase/(decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents, Participants' segregated cash, Participants' and
Clearing Funds cash deposits, Cash in Other Participants' assets 776,268 5,299,342

Cash and cash equivalents, Participants' segregated cash, Participants' and Clearing Funds cash deposits,
Cash in Other Participants' assets - Beginning of period 25,569,357 20,270,015

Cash and cash equivalents, Participants' segregated cash, Participants' and Clearing Funds cash deposits,
Cash in Other Participants' assets - End of period $ 26,345,625 $ 25,569,357

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:

Interest paid $ 159,543 $ 80,992

Income taxes paid - net of refunds $ 60,813 $ 83,009

Non-cash financing activity - capital lease obligation $ — $ 3,640
The Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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1. BUSINESS AND OWNERSHIP

The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (DTCC) is the parent company of various operating subsidiaries, including, 
but not limited to, The Depository Trust Company (DTC), National Securities Clearing Corporation (NSCC), Fixed Income 
Clearing Corporation (FICC), DTCC ITP LLC (ITP), DTCC Deriv/SERV LLC (Deriv/SERV), DTCC Solutions LLC 
(Solutions), Business Entity Data, B.V. (BED); collectively, the “Company” or “Companies.” 

Subsidiaries
DTC is a limited purpose trust company formed under the Banking Law of New York State and supervised by the New York 
State Department of Financial Services (NYSDFS); a State member bank of the Federal Reserve System (FRS), subject to 
examination by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY) under delegated authority from the Board of Governors 
(the FRB) of the FRS; and a clearing agency registered with and under the supervision of the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC). DTC provides central securities depository, settlement and related services to members of the securities, 
banking and other financial industries.

NSCC is organized as a business corporation under New York law, and is a clearing agency registered with the SEC. NSCC 
provides clearing, settlement, risk management, and central counterparty (CCP) services to its members for broker-to broker 
trades involving equities, corporate and municipal debt, exchange-traded funds, and unit investment trusts.

FICC is a clearing agency registered with the SEC that provides CCP services to members that participate in the U.S. 
government and mortgage-backed securities markets, consisting principally of automated real-time trade comparison, 
netting, settlement, trade confirmation, clearing, risk management and electronic pool notification. FICC has two divisions: 
the Government Securities Division (GSD) and the Mortgage-Backed Securities Division (MBSD).

DTC, NSCC and FICC are designated as Systemically Important Financial Market Utilities (SIFMUs) by the U.S. Financial 
Stability Oversight Council pursuant to Title VIII of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 
2010. This designation subjects the clearing agencies to enhanced standards for operation and governance, as established 
by the SEC's Standards for Covered Clearing Agencies (CCAS).

The members of DTCC’s clearing agencies are collectively referred to as Participants.

ITP, formerly known as Omgeo LLC, provides post-trade matching, processing and other related services, primarily to 
members of the financial community. 

Deriv/SERV, through its subsidiaries and affiliates, enhances transparency and provides operational efficiency, advanced 
analytics and strategic consulting for derivatives and securities financing transactions. A system of trade repositories supports 
a multitude of data submissions covering real-time price reporting, transaction details and valuation data. Deriv/SERV offers 
the Trade Information Warehouse asset servicing for credit default swaps and Equity Cash Flow Matching for equity 
derivatives.

Solutions provides information-based and data processing solutions.

BED owns and operates the Global Market Entity Identifier (GMEI) Utility Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) solution in the 
federated Global LEI system. The GMEI Utility is designed to provide a single, universal standard identifier to any 
organization or firm involved in a financial transaction internationally across all asset classes.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). The accompanying consolidated financial 
statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions 
have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements. Management makes 
estimates regarding, among other things, the collectability of receivables, the outcome of litigation, the realization of deferred 
taxes, unrecognized tax benefits, impairment of intangible assets, fair value measurements and other matters that affect the 
reported amounts. Estimates are based on judgment and available information; therefore, actual results could differ materially 
from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents. All highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less at 
the date of acquisition are classified as Cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of highly liquid 
investments in deposits held in banks.

Participants’ segregated cash. Represents cash received from Participants for the exclusive benefit of the Participants’ 
customers in compliance with SEC rule 15c3-3 (customer protection), which requires broker-dealers to segregate a certain 
amount of cash and securities in specially protected accounts on behalf of their clients.

Short-term investments. Consists of cash invested in bank deposits with original maturities greater than three months and 
less than one year with various yields carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value due to their short-term 
maturities.

Fair value measurements. The Company may be required or permitted to measure and disclose certain assets and liabilities 
using fair value measurements. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer 
a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company uses a three-level 
classification hierarchy of fair value measurements that establishes the quality of inputs used to measure fair value. The fair 
value of financial instruments is determined using various techniques that involve some level of estimation and judgment, 
the degree of which is dependent on the price transparency and the complexity of the instruments. 

Accounts receivable. Accounts receivable are stated at cost, net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company 
establishes an allowance for estimated losses resulting from uncollectibility. The Company determines the need for an 
allowance based on a variety of factors, including the length of time receivables are past due, macroeconomic conditions, 
historical experience and the financial condition of customers and other debtors.

Participants' and Clearing Funds. The rules of DTC, NSCC and FICC require Participants to maintain deposits related 
to their respective activities based on calculated requirements. The deposits are available to collateralize Participants’ 
obligations and certain liabilities of the Companies. Margin deposits and Participant contributions are maintained within 
the Participants' and Clearing Funds on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition due to the benefits 
and risks of ownership incurred by the Company. Deposits and contributions may be in the form of cash and cash equivalents 
and securities. These deposits and contributions may be applied to satisfy obligations of the depositing Participant, other 
Participants, or the Company as provided in the rules of the relevant subsidiaries of the Company. 

Cash deposits and Investments in marketable securities. Deposits and contributions received in the form of cash may be 
invested in bank deposits, reverse repurchase agreements, money market funds and direct obligations of the U.S. Government.   
Reverse repurchase agreements provide for FICC’s delivery of cash in exchange for securities having a market value that 
is at least 102% of the amount of the agreements. Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements are typically 
U.S. Treasury and agency securities. Reverse repurchase agreements are recorded at the contract amounts. All interest earned 
on investments is accrued and included within Interest income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
This interest is refunded to Participants, which is included in Refunds to Participants in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Securities on deposit - at fair value. Securities may include U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. agency debt securities and U.S. 
agency residential mortgage-backed securities. All interest earned on these investments is accrued and included within 
Interest income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. This interest is refunded to Participants, which 
is included in Refunds to Participants in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Securities held in custody. Securities held in custody by DTC for Participants, which are predominantly in electronic book 
form, but also include physical certificates, are not reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Cash 
dividends and interest received by DTC or due on such securities and in the process of distribution or awaiting claim, are 
included in Other Participants' assets with a corresponding liability recorded in Payable to Participants on the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Short positions occasionally exist in securities balances and are credited 
to the account of the Participants; such short positions are valued and collateralized daily by 130% of the short position 
reflected in Other Participants' assets on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. DTC’s 
obligation to return such cash collateral to Participants is also reflected in Payable to Participants. 

Federal reserve stock. DTC is a member of the FRBNY and, as a member, is required to maintain a minimum level of 
investment in FRB stock based on the Company’s capital. The FRB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted security 
and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. Based on this evaluation, the Company 
determined there is not an other-than-temporary impairment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. The FRB stock, amounting 
to $6,402,000 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, is included in Other non-current assets on the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition.

Other Participants' assets and Payable to Participants. The Company receives cash and stock dividends, interest, 
reorganization and redemption proceeds on securities registered in the name of its nominee, Cede and Co., and interest and 
redemption proceeds on bearer securities, which it distributes to Participants. These balances are included in Other 
Participants’ assets with a corresponding liability recorded in Payable to Participants on the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition.

Premises and equipment. Premises and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Routine maintenance, 
repairs and replacement costs are expensed as incurred, while improvements that extend the useful life of the assets are 
capitalized. When equipment is sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed 
from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
Premises and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the related 
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The following table summarizes how the Company depreciates Premises and equipment:

Premises and equipment Amortization
Period

Amortization
Method

Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or remaining
term of the lease

Straight-line

Furniture and equipment 5 to 7 years Straight-line

Building and improvements 39 years Straight-line

Depreciation expense for leasehold improvements, furniture and equipment, and buildings and improvements is included 
in Depreciation and amortization in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Goodwill and Intangible assets

Goodwill. The Company records Goodwill upon the completion of a business combination as the difference between the 
purchase price and the fair value of the net assets acquired. Subsequent to initial recognition, Goodwill is not amortized but 
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events occur or circumstances change that indicate an impairment 
may exist. The Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events or 
circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its 
carrying amount. If after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is more likely than 
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, then performing the two-step test is not required. 
However, if the Company concludes otherwise, then it is required to perform the first step of the two-step impairment test 
that compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying value, including goodwill. If the estimated fair 
value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, it is not considered to be impaired; however, if the carrying value of 
the reporting unit were to exceed its estimated fair value, a second step would be performed that compares the implied fair 
value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying value of its goodwill. An impairment loss would be recognized to 
the extent the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value. 

Intangible assets. The Company’s intangible assets include customer relationships and capitalized software.

Capitalized software. The Company capitalizes eligible costs associated with the acquisition or development of internal-
use software projects that provide new or significantly improved functionality. The Company capitalizes software costs 
expected to result in long-term operational benefits, such as replacement systems or new applications that result in 
significantly increased operational efficiencies or functionality. All other costs incurred in connection with internal-
use software are expensed as incurred. 

The following table summarizes how the Company amortizes and when it tests Intangible assets for impairment:

Intangible Asset
Life/

Amortization
Period

Amortization
Method

Impairment
Testing Frequency

Customer relationships Finite/
12 Years

Straight-line If a triggering event occurs

Capitalized software Finite/
3 Years

Straight-line If a triggering event occurs

Equity method investments. All investments that represent less than a majority, but at least a 20% ownership interest, and 
the Company can exert significant influence over the operations of the investment, are accounted for using the equity method. 
Investments are initially recognized at cost. Subsequently, the Company's proportionate share of investees' earnings are 
recorded in Net income (loss) from Equity method investments in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income 
in the period earned. Dividends are recorded as a reduction to the investment account.

Equity investments. All investments that represent less than a 20% ownership interest are initially recognized at cost and 
included in Other non-current assets on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Subsequently, 
these investments are measured at fair value, which represents cost less impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting 
from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar security. Changes in the fair values of these 
investments are recorded in Other non-operating income, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

Commercial paper. NSCC issues unsecured short-term promissory notes (Commercial paper) with maturities generally 
less than one year. The proceeds from the issuance of the Commercial paper constitute liquid resources of NSCC that, 
together with other liquid resources of NSCC, will enable it to effect the settlement of its payment obligations in the event 
of the default of any of its Participants in accordance with NSCC’s rules and procedures. Pending use by NSCC of the 
proceeds of the Commercial paper issuance for this purpose, the funds raised are invested in highly liquid short-term 
instruments in accordance with NSCC's investment policy.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Commitments and contingencies. The Company is involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary 
course of business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of such proceedings and litigation is not expected to have 
a material effect on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, Income or Cash Flows.

Non-controlling interests. Shareholders' equity is adjusted for the income attributable to the non-controlling interest 
shareholders and any distributions to those shareholders. 

Revenue recognition. The Company recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised services and related performance 
obligations to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled, upon 
satisfaction, in exchange for those services. Promised services and related performance obligations are recognized at the 
point in time when the control of the promised service is transferred to the customer. 

To recognize revenue, the Company applies the following steps: identify the contract(s) with the customer, identify the 
performance obligations in the contract(s), determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to the performance 
obligations in the contract and recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

Certain contracts with customers contain variable consideration, whereby the amount the Company receives is contingent 
on a future event occurring or not occurring, even though the amount itself may be fixed. The variable consideration primarily 
relates to volume based discounts or rebates for certain services, however, the volume targets or thresholds typically reset 
on a monthly basis therefore, the variable consideration does not have an impact on the revenue recognition.

The Company derives its revenue from transaction fees, subscription revenue and support services, and other services. 
Revenue from transaction fees is recognized at a point in time on the transaction date, as the customer obtains the control 
and benefit of the service at that point. Subscription and support revenues are recognized ratably over the performance 
period of the relevant contract using a time elapsed measure of progress as the customer receives the benefits of the services 
throughout the term of the contract. Other services, which represent fees generated  from offering referential based data and 
business processing solutions to financial institutions globally, is recognized when services are provided based on contractual 
terms.  

Details for each revenue stream presented in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Income follow:

Settlement and asset services. Revenue derived from this revenue stream is related to transaction fees and subscription 
revenue. The Company provides settlement services for equity, corporate and municipal debt trades and money market 
instruments in the United States of America. Asset Servicing, also offered through the Company, offers a broad range of 
services for underwriting, custody, corporate actions, dividend, proxy and reorganization services, as well as the electronic 
registration and transfer of securities processing.

Clearing services. Revenue derived from this revenue stream is related to transaction fees. Services include continuous net 
settlement, mortgage backed securities clearing, and government securities clearing.

Matching and data services. Revenue derived from this revenue stream is related to transaction fees, subscription revenue 
and support services. Services include trade enrichment, trade agreement, LEIs and data analytics. 

Repository and derivatives services. Revenue derived from this revenue stream is related to transaction fees, subscription 
revenue and support services. The Company provides solutions for derivatives trade reporting and contract servicing. 
Services support data submissions covering real-time price reporting, transaction details, valuation data to meet members’ 
reporting obligations in various jurisdictions globally, an asset servicing infrastructure for credit default swaps, matching 
service for equity derivatives payments and tools to member firms to address the quality of their derivatives trade submissions.

Wealth management services. Revenue derived from this revenue stream is related to transaction fees. Services include 
centralized, automated processing and information services for mutual fund, alternative investment, and insurance and 
retirement products. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Other services. Revenue derived from this revenue stream is related to other services. The Company offers referential and 
activity-based, announcement, security reference, and liquidity data through the DTCC Data Services product. These 
offerings are delivered in fixed or configurable formats, sourced from the Company's transaction, reference, position and 
asset servicing data.

Rebates 

During 2019, the Board of Directors approved and the Company paid a one-time rebate in the amount of $47 million to 
DTC, NSCC, and FICC customers. The rebate was based on a pro rata share of qualifying revenues at the legal entity level, 
using estimated 2019 profitability as the basis for the calculation. The rebate is netted in Settlement and asset services and 
Clearing services revenues in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

The rebate amount in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2019 follows 
(in thousands):

Amount
Settlement and asset services $ 13,000
Clearing services 34,000
Total $ 47,000

Accounts receivable and deferred revenue

The period in which the Company recognizes revenue may differ from the timing of payments received from customers. 
The Company typically bills its customers up to 30 days in arrears. The Company records a receivable when revenue is 
recognized prior to payment and there is an unconditional right to payment. See Note 5, Due from Participants and customers 
for services, net, for the Company's receivables related to revenues from contracts with customers. 

Deferred revenue represents the Company's contract liabilities related to billings or payments received in advance for 
subscription and support services, as well as professional service fees, where the performance obligation has not yet been 
satisfied. Deferred revenue is included in Other current liabilities and Other non-current liabilities on the accompanying 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, as disclosed in Note 12.

Investment income (loss), net. Investment income (loss), net represents changes in the fair values of investment assets 
related to the Company's deferred compensation plan (structured as a Rabbi Trust). All of the marketable securities of the 
Rabbi Trust are classified as trading securities and are recorded at fair value. 

Non-qualified deferred compensation plan. DTCC maintains a self-directed, non-qualified deferred compensation plan 
structured as a “Rabbi Trust” for certain executives and other highly compensated employees. Under the plan, Participants 
may elect or be required to defer receipt of a portion of their annual compensation and invest it in various mutual, stable 
value and common collective trust funds. All such investments are held in the Rabbi Trust and the plan requires settlement 
in cash. The investment assets of the Rabbi Trust are recorded at fair value and included on the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition in Other non-current assets as long-term incentive plan assets. The amount of 
compensation deferred under the plan is credited to each Participant’s deferral account and a deferred compensation liability 
is recorded in Other non-current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. The 
investment assets of the Rabbi Trust are classified as trading securities, and accordingly, changes in their fair values are 
recorded in Investment income (loss), net in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income with a corresponding 
charge recorded in Employee compensation and related benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 
The change in fair value of these investments was income of $22,290,000 and loss of  $4,806,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Long-term incentive plan. DTCC’s long-term incentive plan is provided to certain designated employees of DTCC to 
establish retention incentives for certain key employees. The performance period is a three-year period commencing January 
1 of each calendar year, unless modified, extended or terminated by the Board of Directors and the Compensation and 
Human Resources Committee. Only those employees specifically designated by the Compensation Committee are eligible 
to participate in the plan. The associated liabilities for the plan are classified in Other current liabilities and Other non-
current liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition.

Pension and postretirement plans

Defined benefit plans. DTCC has a qualified non-contributory defined benefit pension plan (the Pension Plan), under which 
employees hired or rehired before May 1, 2009 are eligible to participate upon attainment of age 21 and completion of six 
months of service. The Pension Plan was frozen effective December 31, 2013 and is closed to new participants, all plan 
participants no longer accrue any benefits under the plan. The Pension Plan is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. It is subject to the provisions of ERISA. The Pension Plan provides benefits to retired 
or vested terminated employees or their beneficiaries. The Pension Benefit Guarantee Corporation, a United States 
governmental agency, guarantees most vested normal age retirement benefits subject to certain limitations. Pension benefits 
under the Pension Plan are determined based on an employee’s length of service and earnings. DTCC’s funding policy 
requires the Company to make contributions to the Pension Plan that meet or exceed the minimum funding standards under 
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) and the Internal Revenue Code.

DTCC provides health care and life insurance benefits to DTCC eligible retired employees in Retiree Medical and Life 
Insurance Plans. The Retiree Medical Plan is available to certain eligible retired employees and their dependents. Life 
insurance coverage is available to certain retired employees who have completed twenty years of full time service and their 
dependents.

DTCC also sponsors a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) and a Restoration Plan that are non-qualified, non-
funded defined benefit plans, which provide additional retirement benefits to certain employees. Benefits paid to retirees 
are based on age at retirement, years of credited service and average compensation. The cost of non-qualified defined benefits 
is determined using substantially the same actuarial methods and economic assumptions as those used for the qualified 
pension plan. The Company maintains certain assets in trust for non-qualified retirement benefit obligations. 

The annual measurement date for DTCC’s defined benefit plans is December 31. Plan assets are determined based on fair 
value generally representing observable market prices. The projected benefit obligations are determined based on the present 
value of projected benefit distributions at an assumed discount rate. The discount rate utilized is based on the yield curves 
of high-quality corporate bonds available in the marketplace. The net periodic pension expense or income includes service 
costs, interest costs based on an assumed discount rate, an expected return on plan assets based on an actuarially derived 
market-related value and amortization of prior years’ actuarial gains and losses and prior service cost (credit). Service costs, 
interest costs, and all other costs are included in Employee compensation and related benefits, Interest expense, and Other 
non-operating income, respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

Actuarial gains and losses include the impact of plan amendments, gains or losses related to changes in the amount of the 
projected benefit obligations or plan assets resulting from experience different from the assumed rate of return, changes in 
the discount rate or other assumptions. To the extent an actuarial gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the projected 
benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan assets, the excess is recognized over the future lifetime of the defined 
benefit plans.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on anticipated returns for each applicable asset class. Anticipated 
returns are weighted for the expected allocation for each asset class and are based on forecasts for prospective returns in 
the equity and fixed income markets, which should track the long-term historical returns for these markets. The Company 
also considers the growth outlook for the U.S. and global economies, as well as current and prospective interest rates. 

The market-related value utilized to determine the expected return on plan assets is based on the fair value of plan assets 
adjusted for the difference between expected returns and actual performance of plan assets. The difference between actual 
experience and expected returns on plan assets is included as an adjustment in the market-related value over a 4-year period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Defined contribution retirement plans. The Company sponsors two defined contribution plans for U.S. employees, The 
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation Employee Savings Plan (Employee Savings Plan) and The Depository Trust & 
Clearing Corporation Operations Level Employee Savings Plan (Operations Level Savings Plan).  The plans are administered 
by the Company's Employee Benefit Plans Committee, which is appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company and 
is composed of designated Company officers. The Employee Savings Plan is a single employer plan covering non-bargaining 
unit employees. The Operations Level Savings Plan is a single employer plan covering bargaining unit employees.

The Company matches 50% of the first 6% of the employee’s contributions up to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) 
compensation limits. Company matching contributions and employee contributions vest immediately. 

In addition to the Company matching contributions, the Company offers a supplemental contribution on behalf of the 
employees in lieu of the contributions to the Pension Plan, which is now frozen. Employees are able to participate in this 
Pension Contribution Account (PCA) after six months of service. The Company makes contributions equal to a percentage 
of base and incentive pay based on years of service (3% for less than five years, 4% for five years but less than ten years, 
5% for ten years or more). Company supplemental contributions vest over five years at the rate of 20% for each year of 
service or upon attaining age 55. 

In addition to the Company matching and PCA contributions, the Company offers a supplemental contribution on behalf 
of the employees who were hired or rehired on or before May 1, 2001, also in lieu of the contributions to the Pension Plan. 
The Pension Transition Account (PTA) contribution ranges from 2% to 3% of eligible pay, for employees whose age plus 
service combination (in whole years) totaled 55 or higher, as of December 31, 2013. Vesting is over five years at a rate of  
20% for each year of service or upon attaining age 55.

All investments, except loans receivable, are included in The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation Master Savings Plan 
Trust and are administered by the plans' trustee, State Street Bank & Trust Company. Conduent Inc. serves as the recordkeeper 
for the plans. Both plans are subject to the provisions of the ERISA.

Income taxes. The Provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method. The tax currently payable 
is based on taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from Income before taxes as reported in the accompanying 
Statement of Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company records a deferred income tax (benefit) provision 
when there are temporary differences between assets and liabilities measured for financial reporting and for income tax 
return purposes. These temporary differences result in taxable (deferred tax liability) or deductible (deferred tax asset) 
amounts in future years and are measured using the tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are 
expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely 
than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported net 
by jurisdiction in non-current assets or liabilities on the accompanying Statements of Financial Condition. It is the Company’s 
policy to provide for uncertain tax positions and the related interest and penalties based upon management’s assessment of 
whether a tax benefit is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. 

Foreign currency. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of exchange prevailing 
on the dates of the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. Revenues and expenses are translated 
at average rates of exchange during the year. Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions are included in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. Gains or losses on translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries, when the functional currency is other than the U.S. dollar, are included in the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Derivatives and hedging. The Company uses forward contracts to hedge net investments in certain foreign subsidiaries 
whose functional currencies are not the U.S. dollar.  The Company formally documents all relationships between the hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as the Company's risk-management objectives and strategy for undertaking various 
hedging transactions.  Hedge accounting is applied when a derivative is highly effective at reducing the risk associated with 
the hedged exposure and the risk management objective and strategy are documented. Hedge documentation identifies the 
derivative hedging instrument, the asset or liability and type of risk hedged, and how the effectiveness of the derivative is 
assessed prospectively and retrospectively.  For hedging instruments that qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair 
value of the derivatives are recorded in Other comprehensive (loss) income. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly 
effective at hedging the designated exposure, the Company discontinues hedge accounting and changes in fair value of the 
hedging instrument are recorded in earnings.

Reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents and other limited use cash. The Company includes all cash on the 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, regardless of which line it is included, when reconciling the beginning 
and ending total amounts shown in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, which includes Cash and cash equivalents 
and cash balances that are not available for general corporate purposes due to certain limitations, including - Participants' 
segregated cash, Participants' and Clearing Funds cash deposits and Cash in Other Participants' assets. 

A reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents, Participants' segregated cash, Clearing Fund cash deposits, Cash in Other 
Participants' assets, reported within the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition that sum to the total 
of the same such amounts shown on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as of December 31, 2019
and 2018 follows (in thousands):

2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,395,163 $ 8,641,036
Participants' segregated cash 4,876 77,988
Participants' and Clearing Funds cash deposits 17,431,482 16,332,668
Cash in Other Participants' assets 514,104 517,665
Total Cash and cash equivalents, Participants' segregated cash, Participants' and Clearing
Funds cash deposits, Cash in Other Participants' assets shown on the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows $ 26,345,625 $ 25,569,357

3. ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING DEVELOPMENTS

Standard Description Impact on the financial statements or
other significant matters

Financial Accounting Standards Board Standard Issued, but not yet Adopted 
ASU 2019-12 Income 
Taxes (Topic 740) - 
Simplifying the 
Accounting for Income 
Taxes

Issued December 2019

•  Clarifies and simplifies aspects of 
accounting for income taxes.

•  Eliminates certain exceptions related to the 
approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the 
methodology for calculating income taxes 
in an interim period and the recognition of 
deferred tax liabilities for basis differences 
between book and tax. 

•  Effective January 1, 2022. 

•  The Company is evaluating the impact on 
its consolidated financial statements and 
related disclosures.

ASU 2019-05 Financial 
Instruments - Credit 
Losses: Targeted 
Transition Relief

Issued May 2019

•  Provides entities with an option upon 
adoption of ASU 2016-13 Customer's 
Financial Instruments - Credit Losses to 
irrevocably elect the fair value option on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis for 
certain financial instruments that are both 
within the scope of the current expected 
credit loss and eligible for the fair value 
option.

•  Effective January 1, 2020.

•  The Company will not elect the fair value 
option on any instrument within the scope 
and therefore there is no impact on its 
consolidated financial statements and 
related disclosures. 
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3. ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING DEVELOPMENTS (CONTINUED)

Standard Description Impact on the financial statements or
other significant matters

Financial Accounting Standards Board Standard Issued, but not yet Adopted (Continued)
ASU 2018-18 Clarifying 
Interactions of the 
Revenue Recognition and 
Collaborative 
Arrangements Standards

Issued November 2018

•  Amends Collaborative Arrangement 
standard to clarify that certain transactions 
between participants in a collaborative 
arrangement should be accounted for 
under ASU 2014-09 Revenue from 
contracts with customers when the 
collaborative partner is considered the 
customer. Requires revenues from such 
collaborative contracts to be recognized 
upon transfer of control of a good or 
service in the amount of consideration 
expected to be received from the 
collaborative partner.

•  Precludes an entity from presenting 
collaborative arrangement consideration as 
revenue from contracts with customers if 
the collaborative partner is not considered 
the customer.

•  Effective January 1, 2020 for public 
companies and early adopted by the 
Company.  
 

•  The adoption of the standard will not have 
a material impact to the recognition and 
timing of revenues for collaborative 
arrangements or on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements and 
related disclosures.

ASU 2018-15 Customer's 
Accounting for 
Implementation Costs 
Incurred in a Cloud 
Computing Arrangement 
(CCA) That Is a Service 
Contract

Issued August 2018

•  Implementation costs related to a CCA 
will  be deferred or expensed as incurred 
in accordance with the existing internal-
use software guidance for similar costs.

•  Effective January 1, 2020 for public 
companies and early adopted by the 
Company. 

•  The early adoption of the standard will not 
have a material impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements and 
related disclosures.

ASU 2018-14 Changes to 
the Disclosure 
Requirements for Defined 
Benefit Plans

Issued August 2018

•  Eliminates requirements for certain
disclosures that are no longer considered
cost beneficial and requires new ones that
the Financial Accounting Standards Board
considers pertinent.

•  Effective January 1, 2021.
 
•  The Company is evaluating the impact on 

related disclosures in its consolidated 
financial statements.

ASU 2018-13 Changes to 
the Disclosure 
Requirements for Fair 
Value Measurement

Issued August 2018

•  Entities will no longer be required to 
disclose the amount of and reasons for 
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of 
the fair value hierarchy (see Note 15).

•  Public companies will be required to 
disclose the range and weighted average 
used to develop significant unobservable 
inputs for recurring Level 3 fair value 
measurements.

•  Modifies certain disclosure requirements 
for nonpublic entities to make them less 
burdensome.

•  Effective January 1, 2020.

•  The adoption of the standard will have no 
material impact on the related disclosures 
in the Company's consolidated financial 
statements.

ASU 2017-04 Intangibles 
- Goodwill and Other - 
Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment

Issued  January 2017

•  Eliminates the second step from the
   goodwill impairment test. If a reporting
   unit's carrying amount exceeds its fair
   value, an entity will record an impairment
   charge based on that difference. The
   impairment charge will be limited to the
   amount of goodwill allocated to that
   reporting unit.

•  Effective January 1, 2020 for public 
companies and early adopted by the 
Company. 

 
•  The adoption of the standard will not have 

a material impact on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements and 
related disclosures.
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3. ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING DEVELOPMENTS  (CONTINUED)

Standard Description Impact on the financial statements or
other significant matters

Financial Accounting Standards Board Standard Issued, but not yet Adopted (Continued)
ASU 2016-13 
Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial 
Instruments

Issued June 2016

•  Replaces the current incurred loss
   approach for credit losses with an
   "expected loss" model for instruments
    measured at amortized cost. 

•  Requires all lifetime credit losses for
    financial assets held at the reporting date
    to be estimated based on factors such as
    historical experience, current conditions
    and forecasts.

•  Requires entities to record allowances for
    available-for-sale debt securities.

 • Effective January 1, 2020 for public    
companies and early adopted by the 
Company. 

•  The Company determined the largest 
instrument in scope of the standard is trade 
receivables. Trade receivables will require 
an adjustment to management's provision 
matrix for current and forward-looking 
projections however, adjustments are not 
expected to be material.

•  The adoption of the standard will not have 
a material impact on its financial 
statements and related disclosures.

Standard Description Impact on the financial statements or
other significant matters

Recently Adopted Accounting Standard
ASU 2016-02 Leases

Issued February 2016

•  Requires a lessee to recognize leases with 
terms of longer than 12 months within 
balance sheet assets and liabilities.

•  Changes the recognition, measurement and 
presentation of expenses and cash flows 
arising from a lease depending on its 
classification as a financing or operating 
lease as determined by the lessee.                    

•  Lessor accounting will remain largely 
unchanged from current GAAP. 

•  Leases of fewer than 12 months are 
exempt from the updated standard.

•  Early adopted January 1, 2019.                    

•  The Company adopted the standard 
through a cumulative-effect adjustment 
without revising the prior comparative 
period and elected the practical expedients 
permitted under the transition guidance 
within the standard, which permits the 
Company not to reassess the following for 
any expired or existing contracts: i) 
whether any contracts contain leases; ii) 
lease classification (i.e. operating lease or 
finance lease); and iii) initial direct cost. 

•  The adoption of the standard resulted in 
the recognition of right-of-use assets of 
$251 million and lease liabilities of $304 
million on the Consolidated Statements of 
Financial Condition. The adoption did not 
have a material impact in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income.

•  See Note 10 for additional information.
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4. PARTICIPANTS' SEGREGATED CASH, OTHER PARTICIPANTS’ ASSETS AND PAYABLE TO 
PARTICIPANTS

Details for Participants’ segregated cash, Other Participants’ assets and Payable to Participants as of December 31, 2019
and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Assets:

Participants' segregated cash $ 4,876 $ 77,988
Other Participants' assets:

Cash 514,104 517,665
Other — 450

Total $ 518,980 $ 596,103

Liabilities:
Payable to Participants $ 518,980 $ 596,103

Participants' segregated cash represents cash received from Participants to facilitate their compliance with SEC customer 
protection rules. 

Payable to Participants included $126,000 and $127,000 of cash collateral received from Participants, representing 130% 
of short positions as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Unclaimed balances are remitted to the appropriate 
authority when required, pursuant to abandoned property laws.

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Details for Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Due from Participants and customers for services $ 163,432 $ 165,554
Allowance for doubtful accounts (614) (1,650)

Due from Participants and customers for services, net 162,818 163,904
Other receivables 14,401 13,976

Total $ 177,219 $ 177,880

Total write-offs in the allowance for doubtful accounts were $1,433,000 and $382,000 for the years ended December 31, 
2019 and 2018, respectively.
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6. PARTICIPANTS' AND CLEARING FUNDS

Details for the Participants' and Clearing Funds as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019
DTC NSCC FICC Total

Required deposits $ 1,150,000 $ 5,183,646 $ 24,221,483 $ 30,555,129
Excess deposits 807,140 713,606 8,739,030 10,259,776
Total $ 1,957,140 $ 5,897,252 $ 32,960,513 $ 40,814,905

2018
DTC NSCC FICC Total

Required deposits $ 1,150,000 $ 6,830,444 $ 18,053,674 $ 26,034,118
Excess deposits 684,363 1,435,091 8,468,550 10,588,004
Total $ 1,834,363 $ 8,265,535 $ 26,522,224 $ 36,622,122

Cash deposits and Securities on deposit. Details for cash deposits and securities on deposit of the Participants' and Clearing 
Funds, which may be applied to satisfy obligations of the depositing Participant, other Participants, or the Company as 
provided in the rules of the relevant subsidiaries of the Company, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019
DTC NSCC FICC Total

Cash deposits $ 1,957,140 $ 5,554,586 $ 9,919,756 $ 17,431,482
Securities on deposit - at fair value — 342,666 23,040,757 23,383,423
Total $ 1,957,140 $ 5,897,252 $ 32,960,513 $ 40,814,905

2018
DTC NSCC FICC Total

Cash deposits $ 1,834,363 $ 7,651,033 $ 6,847,272 $ 16,332,668
Securities on deposit - at fair value — 614,502 19,674,952 20,289,454
Total $ 1,834,363 $ 8,265,535 $ 26,522,224 $ 36,622,122

Details for the Participants' and Clearing Funds cash deposits as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019
DTC NSCC FICC Total

Bank deposits $ 1,957,140 $ 3,953,586 $ 7,851,756 $ 13,762,482
Money market fund investments - at fair value — 1,226,000 1,618,000 2,844,000
Reverse repurchase agreements — 375,000 450,000 825,000
Total $ 1,957,140 $ 5,554,586 $ 9,919,756 $ 17,431,482

2018
DTC NSCC FICC Total

Bank deposits $ 1,834,363 $ 5,720,033 $ 5,466,272 $ 13,020,668
Money market fund investments - at fair value — 1,556,000 931,000 2,487,000
Reverse repurchase agreements — 375,000 450,000 825,000
Total $ 1,834,363 $ 7,651,033 $ 6,847,272 $ 16,332,668
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7. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 

The cost, accumulated depreciation and net book value of Premises and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2019 
and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Furniture and equipment $ 343,082 $ 362,376
Leasehold improvements 164,636 201,183
Buildings and improvements 22,341 22,005
Finance leases 4,611 23,172
Land 4,221 4,221

Total Premises and equipment 538,891 612,957
Less: Accumulated depreciation (322,474) (399,846)

Net book value $ 216,417 $ 213,111

Depreciation expense for premises and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $47,799,000 and 
$55,661,000, respectively, and is included in Depreciation and amortization in the accompanying Consolidated Statements 
of Income. 

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, disposals of fully depreciated premises and equipment resulted in 
the removal of cost and accumulated depreciation of $123,544,000 and $37,694,000, respectively. Disposals of other 
premises and equipment during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 resulted in a loss of $2,798,000 and a gain 
of $1,769,000, respectively, and are included in General and administrative in the accompanying Consolidated Statements 
of Income. 

8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net book value of Goodwill and Intangible assets for the years 
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Goodwill:

Gross carrying value $ 57,699 $ 57,699

Intangible assets:
Customer relationships:
Gross carrying value 231,700 231,700
Accumulated amortization (120,679) (101,371)
Net book value 111,021 130,329

Capitalized software:
Gross carrying value 840,431 926,655
Accumulated amortization (626,327) (737,865)
Net book value 214,104 188,790

Total Intangible assets - net of accumulated amortization $ 325,125 $ 319,119

Amortization expense for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $95,539,000 and 
$103,867,000, respectively, and is included in Depreciation and amortization in the accompanying Consolidated Statements 
of Income.
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8. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, disposals of fully amortized capitalized software resulted in the 
removal of cost and accumulated amortization of $186,465,000 and $0, respectively. There were no other disposals of 
capitalized software for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Goodwill impairment testing. DTCC completed its annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2019 and 
concluded that goodwill was not impaired. DTCC performed a qualitative assessment to test the goodwill for impairment 
and determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded their carrying value and 
therefore goodwill was deemed not impaired. 

Intangible assets. The Company recognized impairment charges of $21,468,000 and $8,588,000 related to capitalized 
software for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, that were determined to have no realizable value. 
The impairment charges were included in Impairment of Intangible assets in the accompanying Consolidated Statements 
of Income.

Details for estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years and thereafter follow (in thousands):

2020 $ 97,193
2021 90,116
2022 65,498
2023 38,529
2024 19,308
Thereafter 14,481
Total future estimated amortization $ 325,125

9. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS

Details for DTCC’s Equity method investments as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands, except ownership 
percentage):

2019 2018
European Central Counterparty N.V.

Percentage ownership 20% 20%
Carrying value $ 10,676 $ 10,491

DTCC-Euroclear GlobalCollateral, LTD
Percentage ownership 50% 50%
Carrying value $ — $ —

European Central Counterparty N.V. (ECCP N.V.), a joint venture with ABN AMRO Clearing Investments B.V., 
NASDAQ AB, CBOE Worldwide Holdings Limited and Euronext N.V., provides a pan-European clearing solution offering 
economies of scale and risk management expertise to European market participants. ECCP N.V. uses the risk management 
framework and customer service organization of European Multilateral Clearing Facility N.V. (EMCF), and conducts its 
operations using the technology platform and infrastructure of EMCF.

On December 9, 2019, the Company entered into a binding agreement to sell its 20% minority stake in ECCP N.V., along 
with the other ECCP N.V. shareholders, to CBOE Worldwide Holdings Limited. The transaction is expected to close in the 
first half of 2020, pending the receipt of required regulatory approval.  
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9. EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED)

DTCC-Euroclear GlobalCollateral LTD (DEGCL), a joint venture with Euroclear plc, provides support to financial 
institutions in addressing significant regulatory, operational and industry challenges related to the management of 
margin calls and collateral impacting the over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives market.

Cash contributions made to DEGCL subsequent to December 2017 were for the funding of prior losses of DEGCL and are 
included in Net income (loss) from Equity method investments in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income 
until financial conditions improve. 

There were no contributions to DEGCL during 2019. The Company's contributions to DEGCL for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 follow (in thousands):

Amount
June 19, 2018 $ 5,000
December 5, 2018 6,000
Total (1) $ 11,000

(1) DTCC maintained the same ownership percentage as the joint venture partner, Euroclear plc, who also contributed a
total of $11,000,000

On March 10, 2020, Euroclear plc and the Company finalized a dissolution, business and share transfer agreement with 
respect to the DEGCL joint venture. See Note 24 for additional information.

10. LEASES

The Company leases corporate offices, data centers and certain equipment primarily through operating leases. The 
Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of 1 to 14 years, some of which may include options to extend the lease up 
to 10 years, and some of which may include options to terminate the lease within 1 year.

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases under the modified retrospective method. See Note 3 for 
additional information. The Company determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at contract inception and  accounts 
for lease components separately from non-lease components of an arrangement. Operating leases are included in Operating 
lease right-of-use (ROU) asset, Current portion of operating lease liability, and Non-current operating lease liability on the 
Company's Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. 

ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the 
Company's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. The ROU assets are measured at the amount equal to 
the lease liabilities, adjusted for balances of accrued or prepaid rent and unamortized lease incentives provided by lessors. 

Operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future lease payments over the remaining lease 
term. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate, factoring in the lease term, to determine the lease liability. When 
determining lease term, the Company considers renewal options that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise and 
termination options that the Company is reasonably certain not to exercise. For operating leases, expense is generally 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Details for operating lease assets and lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 follow (in thousands):

Assets
Operating lease right-of-use-asset $ 237,689

Total leased assets $ 237,689

Liabilities
Current portion of operating lease liability $ 25,906
Non-current operating lease liability 264,848

Total leased liabilities $ 290,754
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10. LEASES (CONTINUED)

Details for the maturity of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 for each of the next five years and thereafter follow (in 
thousands):

2020 $ 35,191
2021 33,509
2022 27,664
2023 27,629
2024 27,075
Thereafter 203,531

Total lease payments 354,599
Less: Imputed interest (63,845)

Present value of lease liability $ 290,754

In addition to the table above, as of December 31, 2019, the Company had $2,500,000 of minimum lease payments on 
operating leases that were signed but had not yet commenced. These operating leases will commence in the first quarter of 
2020 with lease terms up to 5 years.

Details for estimated future minimum rental payments under all noncancelable leases as of December 31, 2018, based on 
U.S. GAAP guidance applicable during that period, follow (in thousands):

2019 $ 33,981
2020 33,804
2021 33,879
2022 29,779
2023 29,716
Thereafter 232,344
Total minimum rental payments (1) $ 393,503

(1) Future minimum rental payments were not reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $53 million due in the future under 
noncancelable subleases.

Details for lease expense and lease payments for the year ended December 31, 2019 follow (in thousands):

Lease expense
Occupancy $ 28,144
Information technology 8,818

Total lease expense 36,962
Sublease income (5,794)

Net lease expense $ 31,168

Lease payments included in the measurement of lease liabilities
Operating cash flows (1) $ 35,030

Total lease cash flows $ 35,030

(1)  Included with net change in Operating lease liability in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Details for lease expense as of December 31, 2018 is based on U.S. GAAP guidance applicable during that period. Total 
rental expense under the leases was $29,764,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018. These amounts are included in 
Occupancy and Information technology in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Rental income for subleases was 
$1,843,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018. These amounts are included in Other non-operating income in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.
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10. LEASES (CONTINUED)

Details of the weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate used to determine the lease liability 
as of December 31, 2019 follow:

Weighted average remaining lease term (years) 11.1
Weighted average discount rate 3.37%

Leased assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations for the year ended December 31, 2019 were $12,967,000.

11. OTHER ASSETS 

Details for Other assets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Prepaids $ 93,661 $ 81,774
Prepaid taxes 64,069 24,645
Interest receivable 19,872 27,353
Other current assets 338 188

Total other current assets 177,940 133,960

Long-term incentive plan assets 158,264 148,549
Cash surrender value on insurance policies 66,324 61,035
Deferred tax assets 32,472 44,952
Prepaids 26,082 44,978
Equity investments 12,393 11,750
Investment in Federal reserve stock 6,402 6,402
Other non-current assets 2,782 1,913

Total other non-current assets 304,719 319,579
Total $ 482,659 $ 453,539

12. OTHER LIABILITIES

Details for Other liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Compensation payable $ 147,363 $ 143,837
Long-term incentive plan liabilities 52,450 51,979
Deferred revenue 8,627 12,311
Deferred rent — 829
Other current liabilities 57,720 51,721

Total other current liabilities 266,160 260,677

Long-term incentive plan liabilities 216,092 206,758
Unrecognized tax benefits 43,474 40,153
Deferred revenue 1,264 1,431
Deferred tax liabilities 660 970
Deferred rent — 35,136
Other non-current liabilities 2,191 3,886

Total other non-current liabilities 263,681 288,334
Total $ 529,841 $ 549,011
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13. COMMERCIAL PAPER

Details for Commercial paper as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Commercial paper - net of unamortized discount of $20,623 and $43,856 $ 7,154,217 $ 7,436,141

as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Weighted-average interest rate 1.95% 2.59%

Interest expense on Commercial paper, included in Interest expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income, 
was $166,453,000 and $104,714,000 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

14. LONG-TERM DEBT

Details for Long-term debt as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Notes payable $ — $ 36,375
Information technology financing 8,024 —

Total long-term debt 8,024 36,375
Less: Current portion of long-term debt (4,103) (2,650)

Non-current portion of long-term debt $ 3,921 $ 33,725

Details for principal payments due on Long-term debt for each of the next five years and thereafter follow (in thousands):

Information
Technology
Financing

2020 $ 4,103
2021 3,921
2022 —
2023 —
2024 —
Thereafter —
Total $ 8,024

Notes payable. Details for notes payable as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

Outstanding Balance
Issue Date Maturity Rate 2019 2018

April 26, 2012 April 26, 2032 3.83% $ — $ 19,575
September 28, 2012 September 28, 2032 3.93% — 16,800

Total $ — $ 36,375

During 2019, the Company executed an optional prepayment of the remaining balance of its notes payable. Total interest 
expense on notes payable included in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income was $4,558,000 and $1,465,000
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The 2019 interest expense includes a one-time make-whole 
payment of $3,276,000 related to the early extinguishment of debt. The weighted-average interest rate was 3.88% as of 
December 31, 2018. 



THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

-26-

14. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

Information Technology Financing. On January 1, 2019, the Company obtained three year financing of $14 million, fully 
drawn down, from IBM Credit LLC in connection to its software and services purchase agreement with IBM. The weighted-
average interest rate of the loan was 3.90% as of December 31, 2019. Interest expense on the loan included in the 
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income was $407,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Lines of credit. DTCC maintains a committed line of credit for general funding purposes while certain of its subsidiaries, 
DTC and NSCC, also maintain committed lines of credit to support settlement.

Details for the terms of the outstanding lines of credit as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 follow:

2019 2018
DTCC
Committed Amount $500 million (1) $500 million (1)

Denomination USD USD
Number of Participants/Lenders 10/10 10/10
Borrowing Rate Either base rate plus 0.25% or

eurodollar plus 1.25%
Either base rate plus 0.375% or

eurodollar plus 1.375%
Maturity Date January 2022 January 2019

DTC
Committed Amount $1.9 billion (2) $1.9 billion (2)

Denomination USD USD
Number of Participants/Lenders 32/41 33/41
Borrowing Rate The greater of the federal funds offered rate, adjusted LIBOR, or

lenders' cost of funds, on the day of borrowing, plus 1.40%
Maturity Date May 2020 May 2019

Uncommitted Amount C$150 million (3) C$150 million (3)

Denomination CAD CAD
Number of Participants/Lenders 1/1 1/1
Borrowing Rate A rate per annum equal to the Canadian Prime Rate minus 0.50%
Maturity Date On Demand On Demand

NSCC
Committed Amount $12.1 billion(2) $12.1 billion(2)

Denomination USD USD
Number of Participants/Lenders 32/41 33/41
Borrowing Rate The greater of the federal funds offered rate, adjusted LIBOR, or

lenders' cost of funds, on the day of borrowing, plus 1.40%
Maturity Date May 2020 May 2019

(1) The annual commitment fee associated with maintaining the line of credit was 15 basis points and 17.5 basis points
of the unused amount of the total line of credit, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and is
included in Professional and other services in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

(2) The annual facility fee associated with maintaining the line of credit was 10 basis points of the total line of credit,
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and is included in Professional and other services in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

(3) Used to support Canadian settlement.

There were no borrowings under the lines of credit during 2019 and 2018.



THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

-27-

14. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

Details for debt covenants related to the notes payable and lines of credit as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
follow:

2019 2018
Notes Payable

DTCC
Minimum Net Worth N/A $400 million
Maximum Priority Debt N/A 20% of Net Worth

Lines of Credit

DTCC
Minimum Net Worth $1.25 billion $1.1 billion
Maximum Priority Debt $200 million $200 million

DTC
Minimum Net Worth $150 million $150 million
Minimum Participants' Fund deposits $750 million $750 million

NSCC
Minimum Net Worth $125 million $125 million
Minimum Clearing Fund deposits $1 billion $1 billion

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company was in compliance with its debt covenants. 

Credit Ratings. DTCC, DTC, FICC and NSCC are rated by Moody's Investors Service, Inc. (Moody's) and S&P Global 
Inc. (S&P). Details for issuer credit ratings and ratings outlooks for DTCC and its three clearing agency subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2019 follow:

Moody's (1) S&P
Long-term Short-term Outlook Long-term Short-term Outlook

DTCC Aa3 N/A Stable AA- A-1+ Stable

DTC Aaa P-1 Stable AA+ A-1+ Stable

FICC Aaa P-1 Stable AA A-1+ Stable

NSCC Aaa P-1 Stable AA+ A-1+ Stable

(1) Moody’s categorizes the long-term issuer ratings of DTC, FICC and NSCC as clearing counterparty ratings (CCR) 
under the agency's Clearing Houses Rating Methodology.
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Valuation hierarchy
U.S. GAAP provides for a three-level valuation hierarchy based on the transparency of inputs to the valuation of an asset 
or liability as of the measurement date. Details for the description of the three levels follow:

 Level 1 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities 
in active markets as of the valuation date.

 Level 2 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active 
markets; quoted market prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; inputs other 
than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and inputs that are derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

 Level 3 — Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and reflect the Company's own assumptions 
about the estimates market participants would use pricing the asset or liability based on the best information 
available in the circumstances (e.g., internally derived assumptions surrounding timing and amount of expected 
cash flows).

A financial asset or liability's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement.

Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis. For financial assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company applies the following valuation techniques to measure fair value:

Product/ Instrument Valuation Methodology Classification in
the valuation hierarchy

Assets - Participants' and Clearing Funds -
Securities on deposit

U.S. Treasury Securities

Obtained from pricing services
engaged by the Company, and
the Company receives one
price for each security. The fair
values provided by the pricing
services are estimated using
pricing models, where the
inputs to those models are
based on observable market
inputs.

Level 1

U. S. Agency Issued Debt Securities (Non-
Callable)

U. S. Agency Issued Debt Securities (Callable)
Quoted market price of recent
trades of similar securities
obtained from pricing services
engaged by the Company.

Level 2

U.S. Agency Residential Mortgage-Backed
Securities

Assets - Participants' and Clearing Funds - 
Cash deposits

Money market fund investments Quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets Level 1
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Product/ Instrument Valuation Methodology Classification in
the valuation hierarchy

Non-Current Assets - Other non-current assets

Long-term incentive plan assets - Mutual fund
and Stable value fund investments

Obtained from pricing services
engaged by the Company, and
the Company receives one
price for each security.

Level 1

Quoted market price of recent
trades of similar securities
obtained from pricing services
engaged by the Company.

Level 2

Liabilities - Participants' and Clearing Funds -
Securities on deposit and Cash deposits -
Money market fund investments

Participants' and Clearing Funds liabilities
Derived from the
corresponding Participants' and
Clearing Funds assets (see
above).

Level 1 and Level 2

Fair value measurements of those items measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in 
thousands):

2019
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets - Participants' and Clearing Funds
Securities on deposit $ 18,469,797 $ 4,913,626 $ — $ 23,383,423
Cash deposits - Money market fund investments 2,844,000 — — 2,844,000

Non-current assets
Long-term incentive plan assets - Mutual fund
and Stable value fund investments 100,706 33,813 — 134,519

Total assets, excluding investments at fair value
based on NAV $ 21,414,503 $ 4,947,439 $ — $ 26,361,942

Participants' and Clearing Funds
Securities liabilities $ 18,469,797 $ 4,913,626 $ — $ 23,383,423
Money market fund investments liabilities $ 2,844,000 $ — $ — $ 2,844,000

Total $ 21,313,797 $ 4,913,626 $ — $ 26,227,423

The Company uses Net Asset Value (NAV) to estimate the fair value of certain investments related to the long-term incentive 
plan. Investments in common collective trust funds are valued at NAV based upon the redemption price of the units, which 
is based on the current fair value of the common collective trust funds' underlying assets. Unit values are determined by 
the financial institution sponsoring such funds by dividing the funds' net assets at fair value by its units outstanding at the 
valuation dates.
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Details of investments measured at fair value using NAV as of December 31, 2019 follow (in thousands):

2019

NAV Redemption
Frequency

Other
Redemption
Restrictions

Redemption
Notice Period

Common collective trusts $ 23,745 Daily None None

There were no unfunded commitments related to these investments as of December 31, 2019.

Fair value measurements of those items measured on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 are summarized below  (in 
thousands):

2018
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets - Participants' and Clearing Funds
Securities on deposit $ 16,659,680 $ 3,629,774 $ — $ 20,289,454
Cash deposits - Money market fund investments 2,487,000 — — 2,487,000

Non-current assets
Long-term incentive plan assets - Mutual fund
and Stable value fund investments 113,151 35,398 — 148,549

Total $ 19,259,831 $ 3,665,172 $ — $ 22,925,003

Participants' and Clearing Funds
Securities liabilities $ 16,659,680 $ 3,629,774 $ — $ 20,289,454
Money market fund investments liabilities 2,487,000 — — 2,487,000

Total $ 19,146,680 $ 3,629,774 $ — $ 22,776,454

Certain investments may transfer between the fair value hierarchy classifications during the year due to changes in valuation 
methodology and pricing sources. There were no financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
classified as Level 3 for the periods ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Financial Assets and Liabilities measured at other than fair value

Financial assets and liabilities whose carrying value approximates fair value. The carrying values of certain assets and 
liabilities approximate their fair values because they are short-term in duration, have no defined maturity or have market-
based interest rates. These instruments include Cash and cash equivalents, Participants' segregated cash, Short-term 
investments, Participants' and Clearing Funds - Cash deposits bank deposits and Reverse repurchase agreements (and 
corresponding liabilities), Other Participants' assets, Commercial paper, Accounts payable and accrued expenses, and 
Payable to Participants. 
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying values, fair values and fair value hierarchy levels of all financial instruments measured at other than fair value 
on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in 
thousands):

2019
Carrying
Amount

Total Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,395,163 $ 8,395,163 $ 8,395,163 $ — $ —
Participants' segregated cash 4,876 4,876 4,876 — —
Short-term investments 900,000 900,000 — 900,000 —
Participants' and Clearing Funds:

Cash deposits - Bank deposits 13,762,482 13,762,482 13,762,482 —
Cash deposits - Reverse repurchase
agreements 825,000 825,000 — 825,000 —

Other Participants' assets 514,104 514,104 514,104 — —
Total $ 24,401,625 $ 24,401,625 $ 22,676,625 $ 1,725,000 $ —

Liabilities:
Commercial paper $ 7,154,217 $ 7,154,217 $ — $ 7,154,217 $ —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 102,179 102,179 — 102,179 —
Participants' and Clearing Funds Cash
deposits - Bank deposits and Reverse
repurchase agreements 14,587,482 14,587,482 14,587,482 — —
Payable to Participants 518,980 518,980 518,980 — —
Long-term debt 8,024 8,565 — 8,565 —

Total $ 22,370,882 $ 22,371,423 $ 15,106,462 $ 7,264,961 $ —

2018
Carrying
Amount

Total Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,641,036 $ 8,641,036 $ 8,641,036 $ — $ —
Participants' segregated cash 77,988 77,988 77,988 — —
Short-term investments 800,000 800,000 — 800,000 —
Participants' and Clearing Funds:

Cash deposits - Bank deposits 13,020,668 13,020,668 13,020,668 — —
Cash deposits - Reverse repurchase
agreements 825,000 825,000 — 825,000 —

Other Participants' assets 518,115 518,115 517,665 450 —
Total $ 23,882,807 $ 23,882,807 $ 22,257,357 $ 1,625,450 $ —

Liabilities:
Commercial paper $ 7,436,141 $ 7,436,141 $ — $ 7,436,141 $ —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 104,013 104,013 — 104,013 —
Participants' and Clearing Funds Cash
deposits - Bank deposits and Reverse
repurchase agreements 13,845,668 13,845,668 13,845,668 — —
Payable to Participants 596,103 596,103 596,103 — —
Long-term debt 36,375 36,035 — 36,035 —

Total $ 22,018,300 $ 22,017,960 $ 14,441,771 $ 7,576,189 $ —
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. Certain assets are subject to measurement at fair value 
on a non-recurring basis. For these assets, measurement at fair value in periods subsequent to their initial recognition is 
applicable if they are determined to be impaired or when an observable event occurs.

The Company recognized impairment charges on certain Intangible assets as disclosed in Note 8. The fair values of the 
Intangible assets were determined based on a discounted cash flow method, which reflected estimated future cash flows 
associated with the identified assets at the measurement date, and is within Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy on a non-
recurring basis. 

The rollforward of Equity investments categorized within Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy for the year ended December 31, 
2019 follows (in thousands):

Fair Value at Unrealized Fair Value at
December 31, 2018 Purchases Sales Gains (Losses) December 31, 2019

Equity investments $ 11,750 $ 500 $ — $ 143 $ 12,393

On August 29, 2019, the Company made an additional cash investment of $500,000 in Equity Investments, which increased
the Company's total investment in Equity investments to $12,393,000, including a $143,000 mark-to-market investment
gain included in Other non-operating income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The fair value of
the investments were determined based on the latest valuation of Equity investments from their most recent round of
financing, using Level 3 inputs.

The rollforward of Equity investments categorized within Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy for the year ended December 
31, 2018 follows (in thousands):

Transfers
Investment at Into Unrealized Fair Value at

December 31, 2017 Level 3 (1) Purchases(2) Gain December 31, 2018
Equity investments $ — $ 5,411 $ 1,104 $ 5,235 $ 11,750

(1) On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the new standard related to fair value measurement of unconsolidated
equity investments under the prospective transition method of adoption.

(2) On June 25, 2018, the Company made an additional cash investment of $1,104,000 in Equity investments, which 
increased the Company's total investment in Equity investments, to $11,750,000, including a $5,235,000 mark-to-
market investment gain included in Other non-operating income in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of 
Income. 

The Company's primary level 3 financial asset, the valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of the financial 
asset and the significant unobservable inputs as of December 31, 2019 follow:

Financial
Instruments

Owned
Fair Value

(in thousands)
Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Inputs

Input
Range

Weighted
Average

Equity Investments $12,393

Cost less
impairment plus/
minus observable

inputs Price per share(1) $18 - $107(2) $64(2)

(1) Price is determined using the latest valuation from the most recent round of financing of equity investments.

(2) The unobservable input range and weighted-average are driven by the individual equity investments.
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15. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Company's primary level 3 financial asset, the valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of the financial 
asset and the significant unobservable inputs as of December 31, 2018 follow:

Financial
Instruments

Owned
Fair Value

(in thousands)
Valuation
Technique

Unobservable
Inputs

Input
Range

Weighted
Average

Equity Investments $11,750

Cost less
impairment plus/
minus observable

inputs Price per share(1) $15 - $107(2) $71(2)

(1) Price is determined using the latest valuation from the most recent round of financing of equity investments.

(2) The unobservable input range and weighted-average are driven by the individual equity investments.

16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS 

Defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans. 

Benefit obligations. The reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the projected benefit obligations for defined 
benefit plans follow (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Benefit obligations, beginning of year: $ 1,014,046 $ 1,135,910 $ 64,202 $ 72,062
Service cost 3,467 5,868 573 744
Interest cost 40,201 37,289 2,348 2,188
Gross benefits paid (66,158) (66,178) (2,690) (3,498)
Expenses paid (1,706) (1,900) — —
Actuarial (gain) loss 150,268 (96,943) 2,182 (7,294)

Total benefit obligations at end of year $ 1,140,118 $ 1,014,046 $ 66,615 $ 64,202

Total accumulated benefit obligations at end of year $ 1,135,715 $ 1,009,611 N/A N/A

The Accumulated Benefit Obligations are defined as the actuarial present value of postretirement benefits attributed to 
employee services rendered before December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and based on employee service and 
compensation prior to the applicable date. 
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16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Funded status. The funded status of the plans, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, follow (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Benefit obligations at end of year:
Qualified plan $ 1,015,573 $ 894,461 $ — $ —
Other plans 124,545 119,585 66,615 64,202

Total benefit obligations at end of year 1,140,118 1,014,046 66,615 64,202
Fair value of qualified plan assets at end of year 998,442 863,953 — —
Total fair value of plan assets at end of year 998,442 863,953 — —
Unfunded status $ (141,676) $ (150,093) $ (66,615) $ (64,202)

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
Current liability $ (26,566) $ (11,996) $ (4,275) $ (4,613)
Non-current liability (115,110) (138,097) (62,340) (59,589)

Amount recognized, end of year $ (141,676) $ (150,093) $ (66,615) $ (64,202)

Plan assets. The summary and reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the fair value of the plans' assets 
follow (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 863,953 $ 896,442 $ — $ —

Actual return on plan assets 150,544 (25,275) — —
Employer contribution 51,809 60,864 2,690 3,498
Gross benefits paid (66,158) (66,178) (2,690) (3,498)
Expenses paid (1,706) (1,900) — —

Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 998,442 $ 863,953 $ — $ —
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16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Investments are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Details of the 
classification of plan assets in accordance with the three-tier fair valuation hierarchy and current asset allocations as of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018, follow (in thousands, except percentages):

Target
Allocation

2019

Percentage of
Plan Assets,

December 31,
2019 Total

Quoted Prices 
in Active 

Markets for 
Identical 

Assets 
(Level 1)

Pension assets as of December 31, 2019:
Short-term investment fund(1) 0.50% 0.54% $ 5,374 $ —

Equity Portfolio:
Domestic large cap growth(1) 19,533 —
Domestic large cap value(1) 19,444 —
Domestic large cap core(1) 39,356 —
Domestic small core*(1) 7,455 3,704
International core 11,753 11,753
International emerging markets 4,025 4,025
Total equity securities 9.50% 10.17% 101,566 19,482

Fixed income portfolio:
Domestic liability driven investment(1) 88.00% 88.85% 887,157 —

Guaranteed insurance contracts:
Annuity fund(2) 2.00% 0.44% 4,345 —

Total pension assets as of December 31, 2019 $ 998,442 $ 19,482
*  The domestic small core asset class includes an investment that is valued based on NAV per unit, as provided by the 

trustee of the fund, and have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. 
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16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Target
Allocation

2018

Percentage of
Plan Assets,

December 31,
2018 Total

Quoted Prices
in Active

Markets for
Identical

Assets
(Level 1)

Pension assets as of December 31, 2018:
Short-term investment fund(1) 0.50% 0.60% $ 5,154 $ —

Equity Portfolio:
Domestic large cap growth(1) 26,979 —
Domestic large cap value(1) 26,418 —
Domestic large cap core(1) 53,836 —
Domestic small core 10,065 10,065
International core 16,756 16,756
International emerging markets 5,733 5,733
Total equity securities 17.50% 16.18% 139,787 32,554

Fixed income portfolio:
Domestic liability driven investment(1) 80.00% 82.43% 712,191 —

Guaranteed insurance contracts:
Annuity fund(2) 2.00% 0.79% 6,821 —

Total pension assets as of December 31, 2018 $ 863,953 $ 32,554

(1) These investments are valued based on NAV per unit, as provided by the trustee of the fund, and have not been classified 
in the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in the table are intended to permit the reconciliation of 
the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. 
See Note 15 for further information about valuation techniques and inputs to measure fair value. The Company did not 
hold defined benefit plan assets designated as Level 2 or Level 3 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

(2) As permitted by U.S. GAAP, this annuity fund is accounted for at contract value, which approximates fair value. This 
investment is reported at contract value because it is the amount received by participants if they were to initiate permitted 
transactions under the terms of the pension plan. Contract value as reported represents contributions made under the 
contract, plus earnings, less participant withdrawals and administrative expenses. This investment is not classified in 
the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in the table are intended to permit the reconciliation of the 
fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented on the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition. 

Net periodic benefit expense (income). Details of the components of net periodic benefit expense (income) and amortization 
recognized in OCI, excluding taxes, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, follow (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Components of net periodic benefit expense (income):
Expected return on plan assets $ (37,998) $ (39,564) $ — $ —
Interest cost 40,201 37,289 2,348 2,188
Service cost 3,467 5,868 573 744

Amortizations:
Prior service cost (credit) 933 933 (5,926) (5,926)
Actuarial loss 5,373 8,731 804 2,188
Settlement loss 1,242 444 — —

Net periodic benefit expense (income) $ 13,218 $ 13,701 $ (2,201) $ (806)
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16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Changes in OCI. Details of the changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in OCI, excluding taxes, for the 
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, follow (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Other changes recognized in OCI:
Net loss (gain) arising during the period $ 37,723 $ (32,104) $ 2,182 $ (7,294)
Amortizations:

Prior service (cost) credit (933) (933) 5,926 5,926
Actuarial and settlement loss (6,615) (9,175) (803) (2,188)

Net other changes in OCI $ 30,175 $ (42,212) $ 7,305 $ (3,556)

Details of the net amount recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income on the accompanying Consolidated 
Statements of Financial Condition, excluding taxes, follow (in thousands):

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Amount not yet reflected in net periodic benefit (cost) and
included in Accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Prior service (cost) credit $ (2,569) $ (3,502) $ 11,754 $ 17,680
Accumulated loss (273,649) (242,541) (16,323) (14,944)

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (276,218) (246,043) (4,569) 2,736

Cumulative net periodic benefit (cost)
in excess of employer contributions 134,542 95,950 (62,046) (66,938)

Net amount recognized at year-end $ (141,676) $ (150,093) $ (66,615) $ (64,202)

The estimated actuarial loss (gain) and prior service (cost) credit that will be amortized from accumulated other 
comprehensive loss into the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Income through net periodic benefit (cost) or expense 
over the next fiscal year follow (in thousands): 

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Prior service credit (cost) $ (829) $ (933) $ 5,568 $ 5,926
Net loss (10,208) (5,270) (1,523) (1,270)
Total $ (11,037) $ (6,203) $ 4,045 $ 4,656
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16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Assumptions for net periodic benefit expense (income). Details for the defined benefit  plans assumptions used by actuaries 
to determine net periodic benefit expense (income) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net 
periodic benefit expense (income) for the years ended 
December 31:
Discount rate 4.41% 3.73% 4.31% 3.62%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 4.45% 4.75% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a n/a n/a

Assumed health care cost trend rates as of December 31:
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 6.46% 6.89%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate) 4.46% 4.46%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2038 2038

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions, DTCC considered the historical returns and the 
future expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the target asset allocation of the pension portfolio. This resulted 
in the selection of the 4.45%  and 4.75% long-term rate of return assumptions as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The discount rate reflects the rate at which defined benefit plan obligations could be effectively settled. The Company 
projects the benefits to be paid by each plan for each year in the future, the sum of which is the projected benefit obligations. 
The benefits are then discounted using the Above Mean Mercer Yield Curve spot rates for the corresponding maturity years.

The total of the present values for the benefit payment years is used to calculate the single rate that discounts the benefit 
cash flows to the same total present value. The single rate is the basis for the final effective discount rate. 

Details for the defined benefit plans assumptions used by actuaries to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 
2019 and 2018 follow:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations as of December 31:
Discount rate 3.38% 4.41% 3.26% 4.30%
Rate of compensation increase n/a n/a n/a n/a

Assumed health care cost trend rates as of December 31:
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 6.02% 6.46%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline
(the ultimate trend rate) 4.46% 4.46%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2038 2038

Assumptions for defined benefit obligations. Mortality is a key assumption used to determine the benefit obligations for the 
Company's defined benefit plans. The mortality assumption for all plans uses the Pri-2012 mortality tables projected 
generationally with scale MMP-2019. The mortality tables use a white collar adjustment for the SERP, Restoration Plan 
and non-union Retiree Medical and Life Insurance Plans and a blue collar adjustment for the union Retire Medical and Life 
Insurance Plans. The Pension Plan continues to use no collar adjustment. On a lump sum basis, mortality is based on IRS 
prescribed tables projected using scale MP-2019, with segmented interest rate adjustments. 
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16. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Expected cash flows. The Company contributed $40,250,000 to the Pension Plan in 2019 and does not expect to make any 
contributions during 2020. Settlement losses relate to early retirement of executives who elected lump-sum and periodic 
payments. Settlement losses totaled $1,242,000 and $444,000 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
There were no participant contributions to the plans in 2019 and 2018.

Details for the benefit payments for the pension plans and other plans for 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Pension plans $ 66,158 $ 66,177
Other plans 2,690 3,498
Total $ 68,848 $ 69,675

Details for estimated amounts to be paid in each of the next five years and the five year period thereafter follow (in thousands):

Pension
Employer
Benefits

Payments

Medicare
Subsidy
Receipts

2020 $ 83,570 $ 4,275 $ 11
2021 70,854 4,421 10
2022 67,207 4,557 10
2023 62,408 4,609 9
2024 69,313 4,582 8
Thereafter 325,818 21,457 32
Total $ 679,170 $ 43,901 $ 80

Defined contribution retirement plans. Total expense for the defined contribution retirement plans included in Employee 
compensation and related benefits in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income was $43,284,000 and 
$37,510,000 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

17. INCOME TAXES

DTCC and its subsidiaries file a consolidated Federal income tax return and various state tax returns. DTCC and its 
subsidiaries also file other state and non-U.S. jurisdiction income tax returns on a separate company basis. 

Details for the components of the Company’s Provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Current income tax:

Federal $ 3,310 $ 10,397
State and local 5,020 24,785
Foreign 16,847 23,539

Total current income tax 25,177 58,721
Deferred income tax/(benefit):

Federal 15,687 22,993
State and local 7,157 (35,641)
Foreign (174) 1,051

Total deferred income tax/(benefit) 22,670 (11,597)
Provision for income taxes $ 47,847 $ 47,124
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17. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The 2019 and 2018 effective tax rates differ from the 21% Federal statutory tax rate mainly due to state and local taxes, 
change in unrecognized tax benefits, the effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (Tax Reform Act), settlements of tax 
audits, and effects from foreign tax credit (FTC) and deduction for global intangible low-taxed income (GILTI) and foreign-
derived intangible income (FDII). Details for the reconciliation of the U.S. Federal statutory tax rate to the Company’s 
effective tax rate on Income before taxes for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow:

2019 2018
U.S. statutory tax rate 21.0% 21.0%

State and local income taxes, net of Federal income tax benefit 3.4 4.9
Income from foreign operations (0.6) (0.6)
Change in unrecognized tax benefits 1.1 (9.4)
DEGCL joint venture (3.1) —
U.S. charges (benefits) related to FTC, GILTI, and FDII (3.0) —
Enactment of the Tax Reform Act — (3.2)
Settlements of tax audits (0.3) 2.3
Other (0.7) (1.4)

Effective tax rate 17.8% 13.6%

Details for the components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Deferred tax assets:

Accrued compensation and benefits $ 118,383 $ 117,299
Operating lease liabilities and deferred rent 69,830 9,011
Other 27,063 29,443

Total deferred tax assets 215,276 155,753
Deferred tax liabilities:

Lease right-of-use asset (56,120) —
Depreciation (35,618) (27,260)
Capitalized software (52,281) (44,826)
Investment tax basis difference (39,445) (39,685)

Total deferred tax liabilities (183,464) (111,771)
Net deferred tax assets $ 31,812 $ 43,982

The deferred tax assets are expected to be fully realized and, accordingly, no valuation allowance was established.

Details for unrecognized tax benefits, included in Non-current liabilities, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
follow (in thousands):

2019 2018
Beginning balance $ 28,692 $ 53,008

Increases:
Prior period tax positions 1,382 2,586
Current period tax positions 822 1,444

Decreases:
Prior period tax positions (1,002) (22,192)
Statute of limitations (655) (734)
Settlements with tax authorities (42) (5,420)

Unrecognized tax benefit 29,197 28,692
Accrued interest 14,277 11,461

Ending balance $ 43,474 $ 40,153
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17. INCOME TAXES (CONTINUED)

The Company classifies interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, if incurred, in Provision for income 
taxes in its accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.  The Company recognized accrued interest of
$2,816,000 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The Company recognized a decrease in accrued interest and penalties 
of $17,132,000 for the year ended December 31, 2018 primarily related to the settlement of state tax audits.

Unrecognized tax benefits are estimated based on judgment, assessment of relevant risks, facts and circumstances. Actual 
results could differ materially from those estimates. The Company believes that the liability for unrecognized tax benefits 
is the best estimate in relation to the potential for additional assessments. Unexpected results from one or more such tax 
audits could significantly adversely affect the Company's income tax provision and results of operations.

Details for the periods currently under examination and remaining subject to examination by jurisdiction as of December 31, 
2019 follow:

Tax Years
Jurisdiction Under Examination Subject to Examination
U.S. Federal - Internal Revenue Service 2014 2016 - 2018
New York State 2015 - 2016 2017 - 2018
New York City 2010 - 2014 2015 - 2018
State of Florida 2013 - 2017 2018

18. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

DTCC Series A Preferred stock. All 10,000 shares of DTCC Series A Preferred stock are issued and outstanding and held 
of record by Stock Clearing Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the New York Stock Exchange LLC, the successor-
in-interest to the New York Stock Exchange Inc. In the event of DTCC's voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution 
or winding-up, the holders of Series A Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred stock are entitled to a liquidation preference of 
$30.00 per share.

DTCC Series B Preferred stock. All 10,000 shares of DTCC Series B Preferred stock are issued and outstanding and held 
of record by National Clearing Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority Inc. 
("FINRA"). In the event of DTCC's voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, the holders of Series 
B Preferred stock are entitled to a liquidation preference of $30.00 per share.

DTCC Series C Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred stock. DTCC issued 1,600 shares of 
Fixed-to-Floating Rate Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred stock, Series C, $0.50 par value per share, with a liquidation 
preference of $250,000 per share. When declared by DTCC’s Board of Directors, dividends on the Series C Preferred stock 
are payable in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year through June 15, 2020 at a fixed rate of 4.875% per annum. 
From June 15, 2020 onward, dividends will accrue at a floating rate equal to three-month LIBOR plus 3.167% per annum.

DTCC may redeem the Series C Preferred Stock at its option, for cash, i) in whole or in part, from time to time, on any 
dividend payment date on or after June 15, 2020 at a redemption price equal to $250,000 per share, plus any declared and 
unpaid dividends to, but excluding the redemption date, or ii) in whole but not in part, at any time within 90 days following 
a Regulatory Capital Treatment Event, as defined in the Series C Preferred Stock Offering Memorandum, at a redemption 
price equal to $250,000 per share, plus any declared and unpaid dividends to, but excluding, the redemption date.

On April 16, 2019 and October 23, 2019, in accordance with the Amended Certificate of Incorporation of DTCC, the Board 
of Directors approved and declared dividends in the amount of $6,093.75 per share on 1,600 shares outstanding of its Series 
C Preferred Stock. The semi-annual aggregate dividend of $9,750,000 was paid on June 17, 2019 and December 16, 2019, 
to the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock as of record date May 31, 2019 and November 30, 2019, respectively.

On April 17, 2018 and October 17, 2018, in accordance with the Amended Certificate of Incorporation of DTCC, the Board 
of Directors approved and declared dividends in the amount of $6,093.75 per share on 1,600 shares outstanding of its Series 
C Preferred Stock. The semi-annual aggregate dividend of $9,750,000 was paid on June 15, 2018 and December 15, 2018, 
to the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock as of record date May 31, 2018 and November 30, 2018, respectively.
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18. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (CONTINUED)

DTC Series A Non-Cumulative Perpetual Preferred stock. Under a plan adopted by the Board of Directors, each 
Participant of DTC is required to own shares of DTC Series A preferred stock. The ownership of DTC preferred stock is 
reported as non-controlling interests in the consolidated financial statements. There was $150,000,000 of DTC Series A 
preferred stock (1,500,000 shares at par value of $100 per share) outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. Annual 
dividends are accrued based on the weighted-average rate of interest paid by the Company on required Participants' Fund 
deposits during the dividend period as disclosed in the DTC’s rules. The 2019 annual dividend amount of $2,640,000 will 
be paid in April 2020, to the holders of DTC Series A Preferred stock during 2019. The 2018 annual dividend amount of 
$2,340,000 was paid in April 2019, to the holders of DTC Series A Preferred stock during 2018.

19. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The capital requirement for each of the clearing agencies is equal to the sum of the general business risk capital requirement 
and corporate contribution, as described below. The clearing agencies must meet the capital requirements by holding liquid 
net assets funded by equity, as described in rule 17Ad-22(e)(15) of the CCAS and the Clearing Agency Policy on Capital 
Requirements.
 
General Business Risk Capital Requirement. The general business risk capital requirement is determined according to 
Rule 17Ad-22(e)(15) of the CCAS and the Clearing Agency Policy on Capital Requirements. The capital requirement is 
held to cover potential general business losses so that the clearing agencies can continue operations and provide services 
as a going concern if those losses materialize. It is determined based on the general business risk profile and estimated time 
to execute a recovery or orderly wind-down of critical operations for each of the clearing agencies and, at a minimum, is 
equal to six months of operating expenses.

Corporate Contribution. The clearing agencies maintain an amount referred to as the corporate contribution, to be applied 
to losses as provided in each of the respective clearing agencies rules. The amount of the corporate contribution is generally 
equal to 50% of each clearing agency's general business risk capital requirement.  

Details of the general business risk capital requirement, corporate contribution and liquid net assets funded by equity for 
the clearing agencies as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in thousands):

2019
DTC NSCC FICC

General business risk capital requirement $ 169,398 $ 159,218 $ 113,137
Corporate contribution 84,699 79,609 56,568

Total requirement 254,097 238,827 169,705
Liquid net assets funded by equity 606,572 524,817 277,811

Excess $ 352,475 $ 285,990 $ 108,106

2018
DTC NSCC FICC

General business risk capital requirement $ 169,119 $ 153,054 $ 107,845
Corporate contribution 84,559 76,527 53,922

Total requirement 253,678 229,581 161,767
Liquid net assets funded by equity 529,478 445,732 265,724

Excess $ 275,800 $ 216,151 $ 103,957



THE DEPOSITORY TRUST & CLEARING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

-43-

19. CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Regulatory capital. DTCC’s regulated subsidiaries maintain and report regulatory capital in accordance with all relevant 
laws, rules and guidelines. As a multinational enterprise, various DTCC subsidiaries are subject to regulatory capital regimes, 
as applicable. Certain DTCC subsidiaries submit regulatory capital reports to various regulators, including, but not limited 
to, FRBNY, the NYSDFS and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission in the United States; Ontario Securities 
Commission in Canada; and the Monetary Authority of Singapore in Singapore.

Capital adequacy. DTC is subject to capital guidelines issued by United States federal and state banking regulators.

DTC capital and leverage ratios filed with the FRBNY and the NYSDFS as of December 31, 2019 follow:

Minimum Well
Capital Capitalized

Ratio Ratio(a) Ratio(a)

Tier 1 capital ratio (1) 103.94% 6.00% 8.00%
Total capital ratio (1) 103.94% 8.00% 10.00%
Tier 1 leverage ratio (2) 20.07% 4.00% 4.00%

(a) As defined by the regulations issued by the Federal Reserve, Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and the 
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

(1) Total capital and Tier 1 capital includes common stock, retained earnings and preferred stock. DTC’s tier 1 capital 
and total capital ratios are based on tier 1 capital and total risk-weighted assets.

(2) Tier 1 leverage ratio is based on tier 1 capital and quarterly average total assets.

20. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

DTCC has agreements with DEGCL to provide various support services and office facilities. Expense reimbursements under 
these agreements follow (in thousands):

Other Services(1) Other Receivables(2)

For the years ended
December 31, As of December 31,

Related parties 2019 2018 2019 2018
DEGCL $ 9,407 $ 14,313 $ 664 $ 982

(1) Included in Other services revenue in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.

(2) Included in Accounts receivable on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition. 
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21. GUARANTEES 

Certain DTCC subsidiaries (NSCC and FICC) provide central counterparty (CCP) services, including clearing, settlement 
and risk management services. Acting as a CCP, NSCC and FICC (through GSD and MBSD) guarantee the settlement of 
trades in the event one or more of their Participants' defaults. A Participant default is defined in the respective rules of 
NSCC, GSD and MBSD. In their guarantor role, each clearing subsidiary has equal claims to and from Participants, as 
applicable, on opposite sides of the netted transactions. To cover their guarantee risk, NSCC and FICC (through GSD and 
MBSD) use risk-based margining to collect cash and securities collateral through their Clearing Funds.

NSCC is the leading provider of clearance, netting, risk management and settlement for virtually all U.S. broker-to-broker 
trades involving equities, corporate and municipal debt, exchange traded funds and unit investment trusts. Through its 
Continuous Net Settlement (CNS) system, NSCC is interposed between Participants in securities clearance and settlement. 
CNS transactions are generally guaranteed at the point of trade comparison and validation for bilateral submissions or the 
point of trade validation for locked-in submissions. Since NSCC stands between the Participants delivering and receiving 
CNS trades, the failure of Participants to deliver securities to NSCC on settlement date, and the corresponding failure of 
NSCC to redeliver the securities, results in open positions. Open CNS positions are marked-to-market daily. Such marks 
are debited from or credited to the involved Participants through the settlement process. 

FICC, through GSD, provides real-time trade matching, clearing, netting, risk management and settlement for trades in 
U.S. government debt including buy-sell transactions and repurchase agreement transactions. Securities processed by GSD 
include Treasury bills, bonds, notes, zero-coupon securities, government agency securities and inflation-indexed securities. 
The U.S. Government securities market is predominantly an over-the-counter market and most transactions are settled on 
trade date plus one day (T+1). Trades are guaranteed and novated upon comparison. The guarantee of GSD net settlement 
positions may result in a potential liability to FICC. Guaranteed positions that have not yet settled are margined and 
collateralized twice-daily through the Clearing Fund and marked-to-market twice-daily through the funds-only settlement 
process. In addition, a Participant may be subject to an additional amount referred to as the intra-day supplemental required 
fund deposit, which, if applicable, may be collected on an intra-day basis through the Clearing Fund. 

MBSD provides real-time trade matching, clearing, netting , risk management and settlement for trades in the U.S. mortgage-
backed securities market. Specifically, MBSD processes to-be-announced transactions, specified pool trades and stipulated 
trades. FICC's guarantee of MBSD transactions may result in potential liability to FICC. Guaranteed positions that have 
not yet settled are margined and collateralized daily through the Clearing Fund. The daily Clearing Fund includes a mark-
to-market component that is calculated using guaranteed positions and prices as of prior end-of-day. In addition, a Participant 
may become subject to an intra-day mark-to-market charge which, if applicable, may be collected on an intra-day basis 
through the Clearing Fund. 

If a Participant defaults in either NSCC or FICC, such Participant's deposits to the applicable Clearing Fund are the first 
source of funds and collateral that the NSCC and FICC would use to cover any losses that may result from the close-out 
and liquidation of the defaulting Participant’s positions. To address potential tail losses, NSCC and FICC each separately 
maintain additional prefunded resources. These consist of (i) the CCP’s Clearing Fund that, in the aggregate, currently 
serves as the CCP’s default fund, and (ii) the CCP's corporate contribution, (see Note 19).

If, after closing out and liquidating a defaulting Participant’s positions, the CCP were to suffer a loss, such loss would be 
satisfied as follows: (i) first, applying the defaulter’s Clearing Fund deposit, including any amounts available under cross-
guaranty agreements to which the CCPs are a party, described below; (ii) next, the CCPs may apply their corporate 
contribution (or such higher amount as approved by their Board of Directors),  and (iii) by allocating any remaining loss to 
Participants.

For purposes of loss allocation, Participant defaults are grouped together chronologically into discrete event periods of 10 
business days. If there is remaining loss or liability from one or more Participant default events that occurred within the 
same event period, they will be treated as follows: 

NSCC will assess its non-defaulting Participants as provided for in its rules. The process, in general, allocates any remaining 
losses or liabilities among the Participants of NSCC who were Participants on the first day of the event period ratably in 
accordance with their respective average daily required deposits to the Clearing Fund over the prior 70 business days
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21. GUARANTEES (CONTINUED)

FICC Participants are grouped into three different tiers for purposes of loss allocation: Tier 1, Tier 2, and Sponsored Members. 
The division will divide such obligation between Tier 1 Participants and Tier 2 Participants. Tier 1 Participants will be 
assessed ratably in accordance with their respective average daily required deposits to the Clearing Fund over the prior 70 
business days. Tier 2 Participants will only be subject to such loss or liability to the extent they traded with the defaulting 
Participant. Sponsored Members are not obligated for loss allocation. If the loss arises in connection with Sponsored Member 
trades, the loss shall be allocated to Tier 1 Participant Sponsor. GSD Participants who act as interdealer brokers are limited 
to a loss allocation of $5 million per event period in respect of their inter-dealer broker activity.

Amounts that may be available under cross-guaranty agreements include, for NSCC, amounts available under the netting 
contract and limited cross-guaranty between DTC and NSCC relating to collateralization across the DTC-NSCC interface, 
or for FICC, amounts available under the cross-margining agreements between GSD and the Chicago Mercantile Exchange 
Inc., which may provide for additional funds if the defaulting member was a cross-margining Participant.

DTC, NSCC, FICC and The Options Clearing Corporation (OCC) have also entered into a multilateral netting contract and 
limited cross-guaranty agreement. In accordance with the cross-guaranty agreement, these clearing agencies have agreed 
to make payments to each other for any remaining unsatisfied obligations of a common defaulting Participant to the extent 
that these clearing agencies have excess resources belonging to the defaulting Participant. Under this agreement, no party 
ever needs to pay out of pocket and no party can receive more than its loss.

Details for open CCP positions for which a trade guarantee applied as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 follow (in billions): 

2019 2018
FICC

GSD $ 1,172 $ 1,160
MBSD 419 333

NSCC 143 176

There were no defaults by Participants to these obligations.

22. OFF BALANCE SHEET AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISKS 

DTCC is exposed to significant credit risk to third-parties including its Participants, which extends to companies in the 
global financial services industry. Customers are based in the United States of America and overseas and include participating 
brokers, dealers, institutional investors, banks, trust issuers, mutual fund companies, insurance carriers, hedge funds and 
other financial intermediaries - either directly or through correspondent relationships. Credit risk represents the potential 
for loss due to the default or deterioration in credit quality of a Participant. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is primarily 
derived from clearing and settlement service operations. Credit risk also comes from financial assets, which consist 
principally of cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable and Participants' and Clearing Funds.

Given that NSCC and FICC are CCPs, they are exposed to significant credit risk of third parties, including their customer 
base, which extends to companies within the global financial services industry. 

Concentrations of credit risk may arise due to large connected individual exposures and significant exposures to groups of 
Participants whose likelihood of default is driven by common underlying factors, including economic conditions affecting 
financial markets, the securities industry and debt-issuing countries. 
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22. OFF BALANCE SHEET AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISKS (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions including 
the FRBNY. These financial institutions are located in various geographical regions, and the Company’s policy is designed 
to limit exposure with any one financial institution. As part of its credit and risk management processes, the Company 
performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of the financial institutions with whom it places funds. The 
Company generally makes deposits with financial institutions with a credit rating of at least BBB+/Baa1 or better from 
recognized rating agencies and that are approved via its internal credit review process. The Company also monitors the 
condition of the financial institutions with whom it places funds on an ongoing basis to identify any significant change in 
a financial institution’s condition. If such a change takes place, the amounts deposited with such financial institutions may 
be adjusted.

Marketable securities. In addition to investing in reverse repurchase agreements, money market funds and bank deposits, 
the Company also directly invests in U.S. Treasury securities and debt obligations of the U.S. government or those U.S. 
government agencies guaranteed by the U.S. government. Credit risk related to marketable securities involves the risk of 
nonperformance by the counterparty, which could result in a material loss. 

Accounts receivable. Credit risk related to accounts receivable involves the risk of non-payment by the counterparty. Credit
risk is diversified due to the large number of Participants comprising the Company’s customer base. The Company also
performs ongoing credit evaluations of the financial conditions of its customers and evaluates the delinquency status of the
receivables.

Participants' Fund and Clearing Funds. In addition to risk management policies described above for cash and cash 
equivalents, when Participants provide cash deposits to the Participants' and Clearing Funds, the Company may invest the 
cash in bank deposits at the FRBNY or reverse repurchase agreements (reverse repos). Reverse repos are collateralized and 
the collateral must have a market value greater than or equal to 102% of the cash invested. The Company bears credit risk 
related to reverse repos only to the extent cash advanced to the counterparty exceeds the value of collateral received. 
Securities purchased under reverse repos are generally U.S. Treasury and Agency securities having minimal credit risk due 
to low probability of U.S. government default, coupled with the highly liquid nature of these securities. Reverse repos are 
typically placed with financial institutions with a credit rating of BBB+/Baa1 or better from recognized rating agencies and 
that are approved via the Company’s credit review process. To avoid concentration of credit risk exposures, the Company 
sets credit limits for each counterparty.

Participants' and Clearing Funds cash deposits may also be invested in money market mutual funds under Rule 2a-7 of the 
Investment Company Act of 1940 with a credit rating of AAA/Aaa from recognized rating agencies. Credit risk is mitigated 
by investing in highly rated money market mutual funds and having cash returned daily.

Credit risk arises at DTCC should a Participant fail to fulfill its settlement obligation. The Company manages and mitigates 
this risk by identifying, measuring and responding to these risks in order to protect the safety and soundness of the DTCC 
clearing and settlement system. 

Various tools are utilized to mitigate these risks including, but not limited to: setting capital adequacy standards; assessing 
new applicants; performing continuous monitoring of Participants financial condition; reviewing Participants daily trading 
activity and determining appropriate collateral requirements; maintaining the Participants' Fund and Clearing Fund; netting 
trades continuously; marking unsettled trades to market; and utilizing a variety of advanced quantitative analytical 
methodologies, such as back and stress testing. 

To become a participating member at any of DTCC’s clearing agency or registered clearing house subsidiaries, an applicant 
must meet minimum eligibility criteria that are specified in the subsidiaries’ respective rules. All applicants must provide 
the Company with certain financial and operational information. This information is reviewed to ensure the applicant has 
sufficient financial resources to make anticipated contributions to the relevant subsidiary’s Participants' Fund or Clearing 
Fund and to meet its obligations to the subsidiary. The credit quality of the Participant is evaluated at the time of application 
and monitored on an ongoing basis to determine if the Participant continues to be financially stable and able to meet the 
financial requirements of membership. As part of its review, the Company utilizes an internal credit risk rating matrix to 
risk-rate its Participants. The resulting rating determines the level of financial review to be performed on each Participant 
and may impact their Participants' Fund and Clearing Fund requirements.
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22. OFF BALANCE SHEET AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISKS (CONTINUED)

Collateralization controls and net debit caps are employed by DTC to protect Participants against the risk that one or more 
Participants may fail to pay for their settlement obligations. DTC’s collateralization controls prevent the completion of 
transactions that would cause a Participant’s net debit balance to exceed the value of collateral in its account. The controls  
are designed to provide DTC with sufficient collateral to obtain funding for settlement in the event a Participant fails to pay 
its settlement obligation. DTC’s net debit cap controls limit the net settlement debit that each Participant can incur to an 
amount, based upon activity level, which would be covered by DTC’s liquidity resources. The net debit cap requires DTC 
to maintain sufficient liquidity to complete settlement should any single Participant or Participant family fail to settle.

NSCC and FICC collect Clearing Fund deposits from their Participants using a risk-based margining methodology. The 
risk-based methodology enables them to identify the risks posed by a Participant’s unsettled portfolio and to quickly adjust 
and collect additional deposits as needed to cover those risks. At multiple times during the day, Clearing Fund requirements 
are calculated for each Participant based on their then-current unsettled and pending transactions. Security pricing is updated 
on an intraday basis and additional charges may be collected to cover significant price movements from those Participants 
with a significant exposure in the identified security. The Company monitors Participants overall trading activities throughout 
the trading day to determine whether exposures exist that would require special actions to increase their Clearing Fund 
deposits. 

The Company regularly performs back and stress testing of the quality and accuracy of its risk management systems to 
ensure the adequacy of Clearing Fund requirements and to respond to other risk factors the tests may reveal.

DTC and NSCC maintain committed, secured lines of credit to support potential liquidity needs in the event of a Participant 
default.

The Company also limits its exposure to potential losses from default by Participants through multilateral netting contracts 
and limited cross-guaranty agreements with other clearing agencies. These arrangements are designed to provide a 
mechanism for the sharing of excess net resources of a common defaulting Participant held at one clearing agency to cover 
losses incurred at another clearing agency. NSCC, FICC and DTC have a multilateral netting contract and limited cross-
guaranty agreement with each other and with OCC under which these clearing agencies have agreed to make payment to 
each other for any remaining unsatisfied obligations of a common defaulting Participant to the extent they have excess 
resources of the defaulting Participant. NSCC and OCC also have an agreement providing for payments to each other relating 
to the settlement of certain option exercises and assignments in the event of a mutual Participant’s failure. Further, DTC 
and NSCC have a netting contract and limited cross-guaranty agreement, which includes certain arrangements. Securities 
delivered by DTC to NSCC to cover CNS system allocations are fully collateralized.

 If a DTC Participant defaults, such Participant’s deposits to the Participants Fund would be liquidated to satisfy an outstanding 
obligation and/or loss incurred by DTC. If those funds are insufficient to cover the defaulting Participant's outstanding 
obligations, DTC may use other Participant deposits in the Participants' Fund or apply a portion of its retained earnings to 
cover the loss.
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23. PARENT COMPANY CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Condensed financial statements for DTCC (the Parent Company Condensed Financial Statements) that follow should be 
read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and the 
notes thereto. The Parent Company Condensed Financial Statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 require management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Management 
believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the condensed financial statements are reasonable. Actual results 
could differ materially from these estimates.

The DTCC Parent Company Condensed Statements of Financial Condition follow (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2019 2018

ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 438,544 $ 519,894
Investments in subsidiaries 1,863,686 1,730,200
Due from subsidiaries 259,633 190,060
Premises, equipment and intangible assets 187,926 174,353
Operating lease right-of-use asset 206,769 —
Other assets 392,034 379,305

TOTAL ASSETS $ 3,348,592 $ 2,993,812

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
LIABILITIES:

Long-term debt and other borrowings $ 8,024 $ 36,375
Pension and postretirement benefits 211,720 214,445
Operating lease liability 256,993 —
Other liabilities 516,877 560,757

Total liabilities 993,614 811,577

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock 391,116 391,116
Common stock 5,091 5,091
Additional paid-in capital 411,065 411,065
Retained earnings 1,769,638 1,571,298
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax (221,932) (196,335)

Total shareholders' equity 2,354,978 2,182,235
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY $ 3,348,592 $ 2,993,812
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23. PARENT COMPANY CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DTCC Parent Company has an agreement with its subsidiaries whereby the DTCC Parent Company pays for substantially 
all of the expenses for the operations of its subsidiaries. The related expenses are allocated to subsidiaries based upon their 
estimated use of such goods or services as determined by applicable allocation factors. Further, the agreement provides that 
the DTCC Parent Company performs credit and quantitative risk services, and certain other services for its subsidiaries, 
including among other things, administrative, internal audit, finance and legal services. The billing for these services as a 
percentage of total allocated expenses ranged from 104% to 108% in 2019 and 2018, excluding pass-through charges and 
the impact of capitalized software. The fee, representing the amount over actual cost, is included in Interest and other income 
in the Condensed Statements of Income below. 

The DTCC Parent Company Condensed Statements of Income follow (in thousands):

For the years ended, December 31,
2019 2018

REVENUES:
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries $ 165,724 $ 223,596
Interest and other income 110,000 114,596

Total revenues 275,724 338,192

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Professional services 8,842 19,874
Other 48,249 23,969

Total operating expenses 57,091 43,843

Income before taxes 218,633 294,349

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 793 (1,464)

Net income attributable to DTCC $ 217,840 $ 295,813
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23. PARENT COMPANY CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The DTCC Parent Company Condensed Statements of Cash Flows follow (in thousands):

For the years ended, December 31,
2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income $ 217,840 $ 295,813
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by/(used in)
operating activities:

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries (165,724) (223,596)
Depreciation and amortization 2,608 55,302
Deferred income taxes (10,660) 20,856
Other 18,947 —
Net change in:

Due from subsidiaries (69,573) 191,100
Operating lease liability (18,518) —
Other operating assets and liabilities 16,707 (140,684)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (8,373) 198,791

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Investments in subsidiaries (30,799) (165,000)
Distributions from subsidiaries 69,000 93,246
Capitalized software development costs and purchases of Premises and
equipment (48,923) (34,174)

Net cash used in investing activities (10,722) (105,928)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Preferred stock dividend payments (19,500) (19,500)
Repayments on long-term debt and other borrowings (42,779) (7,877)

Net cash used in financing activities (62,279) (27,377)

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on Cash and cash equivalents 24 67

Net increase/(decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents (81,350) 65,553

Cash and cash equivalents - Beginning of year 519,894 454,341

Cash and cash equivalents - End of year $ 438,544 $ 519,894

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:

Interest paid $ 4,864 $ 1,133

Income taxes paid - net of refunds $ 20,091 $ 20,588

Non-cash financing activity - capital lease obligation $ — $ 3,640
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24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company evaluated events and transactions occurring after December 31, 2019 through March 27, 2020, the date these 
consolidated financial statements are available to be issued, for potential recognition or disclosure. No additional events or 
transactions other than the ones mentioned below occurred during such period that would require recognition or disclosure 
in these consolidated financial statements.

On March 10, 2020, Euroclear plc and the Company finalized a dissolution, business and share transfer agreement with 
respect to the DEGCL joint venture. As a result, the Company transferred its investment in DEGCL to Euroclear plc in 
exchange for cash totaling $3,600,000 and the rights to certain products of the joint venture. In addition, all agreements 
between DEGCL and DTCC, which provided various support services and office facilities on a reimbursement basis, were 
terminated.

The recent outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“Covid-19”) in many countries continues to adversely impact global 
commercial activity and has contributed to significant volatility in financial markets. The World Health Organization has 
declared COVID-19 a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern."  The global impact of the outbreak has been 
rapidly evolving, and as cases of the virus have continued to be identified, many countries have reacted by instituting 
quarantines and restrictions on travel. Such actions are creating disruption in global supply chains, and adversely impacting 
a number of industries. The outbreak could have a continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions and trigger 
a period of global economic slowdown. The rapid development and fluidity of this situation precludes any prediction as to 
the ultimate adverse impact of Covid-19. Nevertheless, Covid-19 could have a material impact on the Company's financial 
condition. In addition to the factors described above, other factors either in the U.S or internationally that may affect market, 
economic and geopolitical conditions, and thereby adversely affect the Company’s business include, without limitation, 
economic slowdown, changes in interest rates and/or a lack of availability of credit, changes in law and/or regulation, and 
uncertainty regarding government and regulatory policy. 
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